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4 REPOSITIONING FOR THE FUTURE

VISION

Our Bank • Strong • Secure • Profitable
.

MISSION

We are the bank of choice, dedicated to meeting 
the needs and aspirations of our people in a 
professional and efficient manner.

OuR CORE VALuES
“I CARE”

• Integrity & Ethics

• Commitment to Results

• Accountability

• Respect for the Individual

• Excellence in Service
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Notice is hereby given that the Seventeenth Annual Meeting of the East Caribbean 

Financial Holding Company Limited will be held at the Finance Administrative 

Centre- Pointe Seraphine, Castries Saint Lucia on Thursday 17th May 2018 at 5:00 

p.m., for the following purposes:

1. To consider and adopt the Report of the Auditors and the Audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended 31st December, 2017.

2. To consider and adopt the Report of Directors

3. To Appoint Auditors and authorize Directors to fix their remuneration

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

       

Estherlita Cumberbatch
Corporate Secretary

NOTE:

PERSONS ENTITLED TO NOTICE

In accordance with Section 108(2) of the Companies Act, Chapter 13.01 Revised Laws of Saint Lucia 
2001, the Directors of the Company have fixed 17th April 2018 as the Record Date for the determination 
of shareholders who are entitled to receive Notice of the Annual Meeting. A list of such shareholders 
will be available for examination by shareholders at the Registered Office of the company during usual 
business hours.

 

Notice of the Seventeenth Annual Meeting
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ECFH Group  Corporate Information

Registered Office # 1 Bridge Street
and Postal Address:  P O Box 1860
  Castries, Saint Lucia, West Indies.
Email Address:  ecfh@candw.lc
Website Address:  www.ecfh.com
Telephone Number:  (758) 456 6000
Fax Number:  (758) 456 6702
 
Chairman: Andre Chastanet, FCCA, OBE  

Corporate Secretary:   Estherlita Cumberbatch B.Sc. (Mgmt.), LLB (Hons), FCIS

LegaL CounseLs:   
Deterville, Thomas & Co.   Gordon, Gordon & Co. Du Boulay, Anthony & Co. 
99 Chaussee Road   10 Manoel Street  Noble House, 6 Brazil Street
P.O. Box 835,   P.O. Box 161   P.O. Box 1761
Castries, Saint Lucia   Castries, Saint Lucia  Castries, Saint Lucia

subsidiaries:   
Bank of Saint Lucia Limited  
# 1 Bridge Street   
P.O. Box 1862   
Castries, Saint Lucia, West Indies  
Tel: (758) 456 6000    
Fax: (758) 456 6720   
Email: info@bankofsaintlucia.com   
Website: www.bankofsaintlucia.com   

Regulators:   Eastern Caribbean Central Bank
    Eastern Caribbean Securities Regulatory Commission 
    Financial Intelligence Unit – St. Vincent & the Grenadines
    Financial Services Regulatory Authority – Saint Lucia

External Auditors:   Ernst & Young
    Chartered Accountants
    Mardini Building
    Bay Walk Mall
    Rodney Bay, Gros Islet 
    Saint Lucia
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Correspondent Banks and Relationships 

OECS REGIONAL INTERNATIONAL
Antigua Commercial Bank

Bank of Montserrat Ltd.

Bank of Nevis

Eastern Caribbean 
Amalgamated Bank (ECAB)

First Citizens Investment 
Services Limited 

National Bank of Anguilla 
Limited

National Bank of Dominica 
Limited

Republic Bank of Grenada 
limited

Saint Kitts, Nevis, Anguilla 
National Bank Limited

First Citizens Bank Limited

National Commercial Bank of 
Jamaica Limited

Republic Bank Ltd

Republic Bank (Barbados) Ltd

Republic Bank (Guyana) Ltd

RBC Dominion Securities 
Global Limited

Unit Trust Corporation

Bank of America Merrill Lynch

The Bank of New York Mellon

Banque Cramer & Cie SA

Banque Heritage SA

Citibank NA

Crown Agents Financial 
Services Limited

Deutsche Bank AG

Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc

Deutsche Bank Trust Company 

Dominick Company AG, 
Private Bank

The Hong Kong and Shanghai 
Banking Corporation Limited 
(HSBC)

London & Capital

Lloyds TSB Bank Plc

Morgan Stanley Smith Barney

Private Investment Bank 
Limited

RBC Emerging Market 
securities

Toronto Dominion Bank

UBS International Inc.

eCFH ownersHip: 
Name Percentage of Holding 
Private Individuals & Institutions 29.72%
Government of Saint Lucia 19.36%
Republic Bank Limited 19.36%
National Insurance Corporation (Saint Lucia) 17.41%
OECS Indigenous Banks & Financial Institutions 14.15%
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EAST CARIBBEAN FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANY LIMITED

BANK OF
SAINT LUCIA

LIMITED
(100%)

ECFH Corporate Structure
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ECFH Financial Highlights

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

eC$000 eC$000 eC$000 eC$000 eC$000 eC$000

income statement 

  Interest Income 80,503 76,981 155,803 162,911 169,806 175,301

- Interest Expense 32,145 35,490 64,717 77,879 84,237 82,173

= net interest income 48,358 41,491 91,086 85,032 85,569 93,128

+ Other Income 59,916 51,020 62,218 62,284 67,895 50,444

= operating income 108,274 92,511 153,304 147,316 153,464 143,572

- Staff Costs 25,609 29,917 47,093 44,318 46,539 43,864

- Administrative Costs 36,915 37,018 62,578 64,054 59,536 57,318

- Impairment Losses - Loans & Investments 16,431 128,782 45,009 20,431 41,250 161,962

= profit before Taxes and dividends 29,319 (103,206) (1,376) 18,513 6,139 (119,572)

+ Profit from the year from discontinued operations 683 12,882 - - -

+ Gain on disposal of controlling interest in subsidiary 4,472 - - - -

- Provision for loss on disposal of subsidiary - 15,453

- Taxes (2,806) 5,726 4,045 7,158 2,156 3,088

- Dividends on Preference Shares 291 291 291 291 291 291

- Minority Interest 2,419 2,871 1,516 3,504 2,500

= net income after Taxes 36,989 (114,213) (8,583) 9,548 188 (125,451)

balance sheet

  Cash and Balances with Central Bank 347,950 366,874 344,212 291,837 166,613 196,889

+ Investments 686,651 813,572 1,518,013 1,415,748 1,399,482 987,232

+ Loans 874,051 1,474,613 1,667,579 1,770,710 1,868,728 1,868,294

+ Other 209,338 994,052 243,686 244,711 289,511 310,328

 = Total assets 2,117,990 3,649,111 3,773,490 3,723,006 3,724,334 3,362,743

   Deposits 1,842,886 2,527,787 3,312,414 3,235,180 3,181,671 2,827,500

+ Borrowings 79,181 139,710 116,646 152,883 213,125 203,913

+ Other Liabilities 47,350 836,032 92,756 65,262 68,827 54,388

+ Capital 148,573 145,582 251,674 269,681 260,711 276,942

 = Total Liabilities and Capital 2,117,990 3,649,111 3,773,490 3,723,006 3,724,334 3,362,743

other information

ROE 25.1% -57.5% -3.3% 3.6% 0.1% -37.2%

ROA 1.3% -3.1% -0.2% 0.3% 0.0% -3.7%

Ordinary Dividend Payout % age 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% -2.0%

Book Value of Ordinary Shares ($) $6.07 $3.83 $8.21 $9.03 $8.62 $9.43

Average Market Value of Ordinary shares ($) $4.75 $5.44 $6.22 $6.42 $7.93 $10.86

Earnings / (Loss) per Ordinary Share ($) $1.30 ($4.46) ($0.69) $0.39 $0.01 ($5.13)

Dividends per Ordinary Share ($) - - - - - 0.10

Provisions as % of Loan Portfolio 9.9% 7.1% 7.4% 5.1% 10.7% 10.1%

Provisions as % of Non-performing 59% 49.1% 39.6% 28.7% 42.0% 72.0%

   Loan Portfolio
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Chairman’s Statement

ECONOMIC OVERVIEw 

The economies within the Eastern 
Caribbean Currency Union 
(ECCU) continued to experience 
significant challenges relating to 
deteriorating fiscal positions, high 
levels of unemployment, reduced 
foreign direct investment and risks 
associated with climate change. In 
the third quarter of 2017, territories 
suffered catastrophic losses with 
the passage of Hurricanes Irma and 
Maria. The herculean efforts aimed 
at the rebuilding and restoration of 
our affected neighbours continue.

Despite the resilience of the ECCU 
being tested, external economic 
indicators are trending in the right 
direction, suggesting some level 
of recovery with projected regional 
growth of 2%. On the global front, 
according to the World Economic 
Outlook published (October 2017) 
by the International Monetary Fund, 
global growth is expected to rise 

to 3.7% in 2018. Emerging and 
developing economies are expected 
to continue to contribute more to 
this growth.

Financial institutions within 
the region continue to contend 
with increasing costs associated 
with compliance, changes to the 
regulatory frameworks, high non-
performing loan (NPL) portfolios, 
security threats and the issue of 
de-risking, the latter being further 
aggravated by the recent black/grey 
listing of several countries by the 
European Union.

PERFORMANCE

The deliberate decision in 2016 
to deal with the issues of NPLs in 
a far more decisive manner along 
with our strategies to restructure 
and strengthen debt collection, 
were intended to return the Bank 
to satisfactory levels of provisioning 

and consequently return to 
profitability.

We are pleased to announce that 
BOSL has recorded a net profit after 
tax of $28.4 million in 2017 and 
ECFH $36.9 million.

In addition, the decision to divest 
ECFH of BOSLIL and 31% of 
BOSVG’s shares and reinvest the 
proceeds in BOSL, resulted in a 
significant improvement in the 
Capital Adequacy Ratio for BOSL. 
In 2017 we embarked on a strategic 
planning exercise, involving all our 
major stakeholders. The resulting 
strategic plan for the period 2018-
2020, is intended to return “Our 
Bank” to a “Strong, Secure and 
Profitable” position in a sustainable 
manner.

“we remain committed to 
building and maintaining the 
institution as - “The people’s 
bank, strong, secure and 
profitable.”

Andre Chastanet, OBE
Chairman
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CORPORATE SOCIAl RESPONSIBIlITY

As a responsible corporate citizen, 
BOSL embarked on and supported 
various initiatives at the community 
and national level, in keeping with 
the Corporate Social Responsibility 
Policy. Over the years, the institution 
has developed a sound legacy of 
giving back to the communities in 
which we operate.

Central to the Corporate Social 
Responsibility efforts in 2017, 
was Financial Literacy, focusing 
on fostering and developing 
entrepreneurship and small 
business education, which is 
expected to continue in 2018. As 
we look to the future, the Bank also 
remains committed to supporting 
community initiatives and national 
programmes with the primary focus 
on youth development in the areas of 
education, sports, arts and culture.

lOOkING FORwARD

Having accomplished our short-term 
objective of returning the Bank to 
profitability, we are now focusing 
our efforts on the implementation 
of our three-year strategic plan. 
The approved Plan over the course 
of the next three years will target 
four (4) strategic priority areas – 1) 
Prosperity/Return to Profitability; 
2) Enhanced Customer Value 
and Public Image; 3) Operational 

Excellence and 4) Intangible 
Asset Development and Change 
Management.

We expect to commence paying 
a Dividend to our shareholders 
out of the 2018 profits. To ensure 
that we continue to be profitable 
in a sustainable manner, we will 
introduce a Performance Based 
annual bonus payment for all 
staff. In addition, we will continue 
to build up our reserves to ensure 
we have a very strong Capital 
Adequacy Ratio and to restore and 
increase share value. The Board will 
continue to provide the support and 
oversight to management during the 
ongoing implementation efforts. We 
remain committed to building and 
maintaining the institution as - “The 
people’s bank, strong, secure and 
profitable.”

ACkNOwlEDGMENTS

I would like to extend my sincere 
thanks and appreciation to the 
Board, Management and Staff for 
their invaluable contribution towards 
the advancement of the institution. 
The decisions made and the road 
travelled during the last financial 
year were by no means easy. I would 
also like to acknowledge and thank 
Mr. Derry Williams, our Acting 
Managing Director, who ended his 
secondment with us on the 31st 
March, for his outstanding service 

during a very critical period. Allow 
me to welcome Dr. Bernard La 
Corbinière, who joined us on 19th  
March 2018 as Managing Director. 
To our valued shareholders and 
loyal customers, thank you for your 
continued confidence in Our Bank.

andre Chastanet, obe
Chairman 

Having accomplished our short-
term objective of returning the 
Bank to profitability, we are 
now focusing our efforts on the 
implementation of our three-year 
strategic plan.
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Corporate Governance
The Board of Directors of the East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited is responsible for the 
governance of the Bank, and is committed to adhering to the highest standards of Corporate Governance. It is 
guided by a formal Corporate Governance Policy.  

The Board comprises appointed and elected directors who govern the affairs of the Bank.  It reviews the Bank’s 
strategies, financial objectives, operating plans and plans for management succession. The Board ordinarily 
meets every month with other meetings being held as necessary.  

The Board provides leadership to the Bank within a framework of sound corporate governance practices, 
and prudent and effective controls that facilitate risk assessment and efficient management. It sets the Bank’s 
strategic goals and objectives.  The Board establishes the company’s values and ensures that its obligations to 
shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and met. All Directors must take decisions objectively in 
the interest of the company.

There is a clear delineation of responsibilities between the running of the Board and the executive responsibility 
for the running of the Bank.  No one individual has unrestricted powers of decision-making. The roles of 
Chairman and Managing Director cannot be exercised by the same individual.  To facilitate accountability and 
transparency, no one individual or group of individuals dominates the decision making process. 

The Board comprises eleven members, ten of whom are elected or appointed by the holders of ordinary 
shares and the Managing Director who is an Executive Director.  Collectively, the members of the Board must 
demonstrate a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business.

SubSidiary boardS

ECFH has one subsidiary, Bank of Saint Lucia Limited whose Board comprises the same directors.  The ECFH 
Board has to be aware of all material risks and other issues that may ultimately affect its subsidiary in order to 
be in a position to exercise adequate oversight over the activities of the subsidiary.

The Board must ensure that adequate risk management procedures are in place to identify, assess and monitor 
risk activities and to provide the desired balance between risk acceptance and returns.  The Risk Management 
committee of the Board has overall accountability for risk of the subsidiary. The Committee meets at least 
quarterly and reports to the Board quarterly.

CommitteeS of the board 

In an effort to effectively allocate tasks and responsibilities at the Board level, the Board has established 
committees with clearly defined objectives, authorities, responsibilities and tenure.   These committees may 
serve the Boards of subsidiary companies.  The Board shall not delegate matters requiring special approvals to 
any of its committees.
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Committees comprise mainly of independent directors and meet at least three times a year, or when the need 
arises.  The Committees are as follows:
CommiTTee members

governance 

This Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in providing for 
qualified board succession and for promoting the integrity of the Company through the 
establishment of appropriate corporate governance principles. 

Trevor Louisy – Chairman
Omar Davis 
Andre Chastanet  
Jacqueline Emmanuel-Flood 
Stewart Haynes 

audit

This Committee is responsible for providing oversight of the company’s operations, in 
particular:  

•	The	quality	and	integrity	of	the	financial	statements	of	the	Group
•	The	effectiveness	of	the	systems	of	internal	control	over	financial	reporting
•	The	internal	and	external	audit	processes,	the	Group’s	processes	for	monitoring	

compliance with applicable laws and regulations, risk management processes 
and the code of conduct.    

The Committee also reviews significant accounting and reporting issues; including 
critical accounting estimates and judgments used in applying accounting principles 
as well as the treatment of complex or unusual transactions and their impact on the 
financial statements. 

It also considers the effectiveness of the Group’s systems of internal controls including 
information technology controls and its impact on annual and interim financial 
reporting.

omar davis – Chairman
Marcus Joseph 
Martin Dorville 
Llewellyn Gill 
Stewart Haynes 
 
 

risk management

The purpose of the Board’s Risk Management Committee is to assist the ECFH board in 
its oversight function of the risk profile and approve the risk management framework of 
ECFH and its subsidiaries within the context of the strategy determined by the Board.   

The committee will: 
•	 review		and		monitor		aggregate		risk		levels		in		the		business		and		the		quality		

of  risk mitigation and control for all areas of risk to the business 
•	make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	areas	for	 improvement	management	

and mitigation of risk 
•	apprise	 the	Board	of	progress	 in	 implementing	 improvements	mitigation	and	

actions

Farid antar – Chairman
Andre Chastanet
Marcus Joseph
John Tang Nian
Stewart Haynes

Human resource

This Committee is responsible for approving staff compensation, staff policies, and 
appointment of Senior Management as well as succession planning for Management.  
The committee is also responsible for reviewing the staff structure, thereby ensuring that 
the right skills exist for the jobs within the Group.

Jacqueline emmanuel- Flood 
– Chairperson
Martin Dorville
Llewellyn Gill
Trevor Louisy 
Derry Williams

 
strategic oversight

The mandate of this Committee is to perform oversight of matters relating to, or affecting 
the Bank’s strategic direction in accordance with the approved Strategic Plan, provide 
oversight and advice to Management in the development and implementation of all such 
strategic initiatives, and make recommendations to the Board on such matters.
This committee was formed in January, 2018.

andre Chastanet - Chairman
Martin Dorville
John Tang Nian
Jacqueline Emmanuel – Flood
Trevor Louisy
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1. Andre Chastanet   Chairman
Profession  : Accountant
Qualification  : FCCA
Substantive Position  : Retired Businessman
Board Member since  : September 2016
Appointed by   : Government of Saint lucia
Nationality  : Saint lucian

2. Trevor Louisy
Profession  : Engineer
Qualification  : BSc. (Hons) Electrical Engineering
Substantive Position  : Managing Director – St lucia   
   Electricity Services limited  
Board Member since  : September 2014
Appointed by   : Ordinary Shareholders
Nationality  : Saint lucian

3. Jacqueline Emmanuel-Flood
Profession  : Economist
Qualification  : BSc. MSc. Accredited Director and  
   Member - ICSA
Substantive Position  : Executive Director, TEPA
Board Member since  : May 2012
Appointed by   : Ordinary Shareholders
Nationality  : Saint lucian

4. Omar Davis
Profession : Consultant
Qualification : ACCA, Accredited Director and   
  Member - ICSA
Substantive Position : Financial & Management Consultant
Board Member since : May 2012
Appointed by  : Ordinary Shareholders
Nationality : Vincentian/Saint lucian

5. Derry Williams
Profession : Banking and Finance
Qualification : MBA Finance
Substantive Position : Managing Director ECFH/BOSl (Ag)
Board Member since : May 2017
Nationality : Vincentian

6. Farid Antar
Profession : Banker
Qualification : ACIB, ACIS, SOBMM
Substantive Position : General Manager – Corporate Operations  
  & Process Improvement, RBl
Board Member since : September 2015
Appointed by  : Republic Bank of Trinidad & Tobago   
  limited
Nationality : Trinidadian

Profile of Directors

1.

4. 5. 6.

2. 3.
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7. Llewelyn Gill, SLMM
Profession : Chartered Accountant
Qualification : FCPA, FCGA, FCIS, FCCA, AccDir, CAMS
Substantive Position : Principal, G. llewellyn Gill & Co.
Board Member since : May 2016
Appointed by  : Ordinary Shareholders 
Nationality : Saint lucian

8. Marcus Joseph
Profession : Accountant
Qualification : CGA
Substantive Position : Divisional Manager Finance, Minvielle &  
  Chastanet ltd. 
Board Member since : September 2016
Appointed by  : National Insurance Corporation 
Nationality : Saint lucian

9. Martin Dorville
Profession : Management
Qualification : MBA – Marketing & Finance 
Substantive Position : Managing Director, Massy Stores (SlU) ltd.
Board Member since : April 2014
Appointed by : Government of Saint lucia
Nationality : Saint lucian

10. John Tang Nian
Profession : Banker
Qualification : Dip. Business Management
Substantive Position : Retired Banker
Board Member since : August 2017
Appointed by : Republic Bank limited
Nationality : Trinidadian

11. Stewart Haynes
Profession : Actuary
Qualification : FICCFA
Substantive Position : Executive Director, National Insurance  
  Services, SVG
Board Member since : August 2017
Appointed by : OECS Bank Group
Nationality : Vincentian

 

10. 11.

7. 8. 9.
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Directors’ Report 
The Directors submit their Report for the Financial Year ended 31st December, 2017.

direCtorS

The following changes were made on the Board during the financial year:
i. Director Lennox Tim resigned from the Board in July 2017.
ii. Stewart Haynes was appointed in August 2017 replacing Lennox Timm by the OECS Financial Institutions 

Group 
iii. Director John Tang Nian was appointed by the Board in March 2017  to fill a vacancy by Republic Bank 

Limited
iv. Director Andre Iton, Managing Director resigned from the Board effective April 2017 
v. Director Derry Williams, Managing Director (Ag) was appointed to the Board effective May, 2017 on 

secondment from BOSVG to 31st March, 2018.
vi. Director Bernard La Corbiniere was appointed Managing Director on 19th March, 2018, replacing Derry 

Williams whose tenure came to an end on 31st March, 2018

direCtorS’ iNtereSt

The interests of the Directors holding office at the end of the Company’s Financial Year 2017 in the Ordinary 
Shares of the Company were as follows:-

director beneficial interest 
Andre Chastanet 10,000
Omar Davis 3,530
Marcus Joseph  2,710
Jacqueline Emmanuel-Flood 1,150
Llewellyn Gill 200
Trevor Louisy Nil
John Tang Nian Nil
Stewart Haynes Nil
Martin Dorville Nil
Farid Antar Nil 
Derry Williams  Nil

There has been no change in these interests occurring between the end of the Company’s Financial Year and 
one month prior to the date of the Notice convening the Annual Meeting.

At no time during or at the end of the Financial Year has any Director had any material interests in any contract 
or arrangement in relation to the business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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Substantial Interests in Share Capital as at December 31, 2017

Preference Shares: 
 National Insurance Corporation – 100% of the issued and outstanding shares totaling 830,000
Ordinary Shares:
 Government of Saint Lucia  19.36%
 Republic Bank Limited 19.36%
 National Insurance Corporation 17.41%

orGaNiZatioNaL ChaNGeS

During the year the company divested ownership in its subsidiaries as follows: 

i. The operations of the offshore subsidiary BOSLIL were sold to Proven Investments Limited.

ii. On June 30, 2017, 31% of the shareholding of BOSVG was sold to the Government of St. Vincent and the 
Grenadines with ECFH retaining 20% of its shares.

SharehoLderS reLatioNS 

The shares of the East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited (ECFH) have been listed on the Eastern 
Caribbean Securities Exchange (ECSE) from October19, 2001.  As a result, all shares are traded on the exchange, 
and records maintained by the ECSE in accordance with the regulations. A total of Ten Thousand,  Six Hundred 
& Fifty Nine (10,659) shares were traded at an average price of $4.75 per share during the 2017 financial year.

As the issuer of the shares, the ECFH has the responsibility to ensure that all necessary information is 
communicated to shareholders on a timely basis and that dividends are paid in accordance with the dividend 
policy approved by the Board of Directors.

During the year, Directors approved and granted two new secondary school scholarships to children of 
shareholders residing in St. Lucia.  The total number of scholarships granted is ten (10) at an annual cost of 
Fifteen Thousand dollars ($15,000).  Scholarships are awarded annually based on eligible students obtaining 
highest scores at the Common Entrance Examinations.

auditorS

The current Auditors, Ernst & Young are due to retire and in accordance with section 60 (2) of the Banking Act 
No. 3 of 2015, are not eligible to be re-appointed as they have served for a period of six years. 

Tenders were invited for the audit of ECFH and its subsidiary Bank of Saint Lucia Limited for the three-year 
period 2018 to 2020, from the major audit firms namely; 

•	 Pricewaterhousecoopers,	
•	 KPMG,	
•	 BDO
•	 PKF	
•	 Grant	Thornton
•	 EY

The proposals were reviewed by a joint committee, comprising members of the Audit Committee of the Board 
and select Executive Management team members.  Each member of the team scored the tenders independently 
using twelve categories of requirements from the terms of reference and a recommendation will be tabled to 
the Shareholders for the selection of the Auditors. 

In accordance with Section 162 (i) of the Companies Act, Cap.13.01, the term of the appointment will extend 
from the close of the Annual Meeting until the next Annual Meeting of the Company.
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derry williams, MBA Finance – (Acting) Managing Director 

Joanna Charles, ACIB, BSc. Finance & Banking, MBA – (Acting) Deputy Managing Director  

Ketha auguste, FCCA, Professional Diploma in Banking  – Chief Financial Officer

estherlita Cumberbatch, BSc Management Studies, FCIS, LLB – Corporate Secretary

minelva oculien-moses, MBA - Senior Manager Human Resource Management & Development

Lyndon arnold, MBA – Senior Manager Information Management & Technology Services 

shanta Louis, BSc. Economics with Finance & Accounting – Senior Manager - Risk & Compliance 

melissa simon, FCCA, CFSA, CFE, CISA, CIA – Senior Manager Internal Audit

Cynthia Laurent, Professional Diploma in Banking – Senior Manager Operations 

baldwin Taylor, BComm, MBA – Senior Manager Retail Banking

medford Francis, MBA – Senior Manager Investment Banking 

Cecilia Ferdinand-La Corbiniere, MBA - Senior Manager Credit Administration

Profile of ECFH/BoSl Executive Team 
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Management Discussion and Analysis

oVerVieW 

The economies of the ECCU continue to face many 
challenges although the local economy is showing 
some signs of improvement. In the local economy 
unemployment rates, although still high, are slowly 
stabilizing and there is an increase in foreign business 
and investment. Moderate growth was recorded in 
the construction industry as well as tourism due to 
increased cruise ship arrivals. This has led to higher 
revenue intake reflected in a small rise in monetary 
liabilities for local banks.

 In 2017, Bank of Saint Lucia Limited (BOSL) continued 
with its restructuring and consolidation initiatives, 
which commenced in 2017. This included the sale 
of the offshore bank BOSLIL, which was completed 
in March 2017 as well as the divestment of the 31% 
shareholding interest in Bank of Saint Vincent and the 
Grenadines (BOSVG), which was completed in June 
2017. These initiatives were undertaken in an effort 
to improve operational efficiency, mitigate risks and 
address capital adequacy challenges.

The decisive approach to provisioning and write-offs 
adopted in 2016 has strengthened the institution, 
reducing the levels of NPLs and improving the level 
of provisions. The Group also adopted a policy in 
2017 to set aside a contingency reserve to act as a 
buffer against potential loan losses over and above 
the requirements of International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Despite continued challenges, ECFH was able to report 
an encouraging profit for the financial year ending 
December 2017. The aforementioned initiatives, as 
well as increased loan recovery efforts and continued 
cost containment strategies have assisted in returning 
the bank to profitability.

The Group’s strategic plan for the years 2018-2020 
guides the way to further stabilization and prosperity 
for the organization. The four strategic priorities 
include: (1) Return to profitability; (2) Enhancing 
customer value; (3) Operational intelligence and (4) 
Intangible asset development.
 

fiNaNCiaL aNaLySiS

The Group recorded a net profit of $37M in 2017. 
Contributing to this performance is a $4.5M gain from 
the disposal of subsidiaries. Apart from the significant 
reduction in loan loss provisions year on year, the 
positive performance was also lead by improved 
operating efficiency, signifying the successful 
implementation of strategies throughout the year.  

Interest Income from loans showed a marginal 
increase of 0.6% to $61M due to intense competition 
in the loan market and weak loan growth reflective 
of   continued economic challenges.  BOSL’s loan 
portfolio contracted from $898.6M in the prior year to 
$874.1M, but benefited from an increase in interest on 
overdrafts. 

The investment of surplus funds from continued 
high levels of commercial bank liquidity has led to 
an increase in interest income on investments, which 
grew by 18% to $19.3M. 

The bank continues to operate strategies to manage 
the cost of funds leading to a reduction of 9.4% in 
interest expense below the previous year. The net 
effect of all these factors was an increase of 17% in net 
interest income.

Other operating income also increased by 20.6% to 
$56.8M from the previous year’s amount of $47.1M. 
This was largely due to an increase in foreign exchange 
trading of 14.7% and an increase of 86% in bad debt 
recovery income from $4.3M in the previous year to 
$8M. 

Impairment losses on loans declined from $128.8M 
(2016) to 15.7M. The loan loss provisions and write- 
offs from the previous year addressed the high level of 
non- productive loans thereby improving the quality 
of the loan portfolio. Provisions as a percentage of 
impaired loans stand at 59%, well ahead of international 
benchmarks. The Group expects to benefit from the 
disciplined approach to managing its loan portfolio 
and to return to normal levels of provisioning.

The 7% reduction in operating expenses was a 
result of the cost containment measures that were 
implemented to reduce operating costs and included 
a 12% reduction in staff costs. 
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The net tax credit of $2.8M was largely attributed to 
the outcome of a tax assessment for the income year 
2010 and the recognition of deferred tax assets arising 
from unutilized tax losses from prior years based on a 
conservative assessment of future taxable profits. 

Total assets stood at $2.1B at December 2017. BOSL 
customer deposits grew by $57M to $1.8B, signaling 
continued customer confidence and loyalty. 

The Group recorded satisfactory improvements in 
all key performance ratios.  However, the ratio of 
non-performing loans to total loans, which stands at 
16.7%, remains above the statutory guideline. The 
Group intends to address this in 2018 via sales of 
distressed sales to the Asset Management Company, 
established as a regional entity under the directive 
of the Eastern Caribbean Central Bank, along with 
aggressive collection efforts through both in-house 
and outsourced avenues. 

LiQuidity aNd iNVeStmeNtS 

Commercial bank liquidity levels in the region continue 
to be high. BOSL’s liquidity remains well in excess of 
the prudential requirements.  The continuous rise 
in deposits amidst a tightening loan portfolio has 
warranted the investment of surplus funds on regional 
and international markets to earn a better return on 
the excess cash. The Group is careful to monitor these 
investments to ensure that they are of a high quality 
and that regional deposits are within policy limits.  A 
portfolio of readily traded instruments is maintained to 
ensure that these investments can be readily liquidated 
should adverse changes in market conditions arise.   

riSK maNaGemeNt

BOSL employed the “Three Lines of Defence” model 
for effective risk management and control. In this 
model, management control is the first line of defense 
in risk management, the various risk management 
and compliance oversight functions established by 
management are the second line of defense and 
independent assurance by internal auditors is the third. 
Risk management continued to play a dominant role 
in the Bank’s priorities, with heavy focus on mitigating 
risk whilst creating increased value for all stakeholders. 
The mitigation of risk included adherence to the Risk 
Appetite of the Bank and continuous strengthening of 
the Bank’s risk management culture. 

The Board of Directors oversees the Bank’s strategic 
direction, the implementation of an effective risk 

management culture and the internal control 
framework across the organisation. It accomplishes its 
risk management mandate both directly and indirectly 
through its subcommittees of the Board. The Board 
reviewed and actioned timely and comprehensive 
reports on risk assessments, risk monitoring, risk 
modification, risk avoidance and risk sharing. The Bank 
remains steadfast in enhancing its performance in risk 
oversight and, therefore, included this as one of the 
main initiatives of its 2018-2020 Strategic Plan.

The main risks to the Bank over the financial year 
were credit, operational, market, legal and regulatory 
risks. However, with the exception of credit risk, which 
was deemed high, the level of risk in all the other 
categories was generally assessed as moderate with 
adequate risk management controls remaining within 
the Bank’s risk parameters.

Credit Risk 

BOSL continued to adopt the credit risk treatment and 
measurement approaches outlined by the Regulator 
as well as global best practice. In 2017, Credit risk 
remained high due to the level of inherent risk, coupled 
with the weak performance of the economy. Credit risk 
levels were evidenced by the value of non-performing 
credits and were further challenged by the outdated 
foreclosure legislation of Saint Lucia, which significantly 
affected efforts towards resolution. However, the Bank 
adopted a comprehensive strategic approach towards 
reducing and mitigating against this risk exposure 
and was successful in recording a significant amount 
of recoveries. This approach ensured that the Bank 
remained on par with the ECCU industry average NPL 
ratio.

The Bank continued to apply a prudent level of loan 
loss provisions, guided by industry best practice, under 
which early signs of impairment and deterioration in 
circumstances are translated to an adequate level of 
provisioning. This practice was supported by a revision 
of the Bank’s Loan Impairment Provisioning and Write-
off Policy.  As this approach to prudent provisioning 
was adopted from 2016, the required level of loan 
loss provisions for 2017 was not extensive and curtails 
the extent of its impact on the future performance of 
BOSL. 
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Further, keen attention was paid to concentration risks, 
sectoral limits and the process of loan origination, 
approval and administration. Efforts continue towards 
enhancing capacity by streamlining processes, 
strengthening staff through continuous training 
and implementing efficient systems for monitoring 
adherence to established guidelines. 

The Bank remains methodical in its credit risk 
assessment so that credit exposures are better 
managed towards reducing significant fluctuations in 
earnings.

Operational Risk

The Bank remained exposed to a broad range of 
operational risk embedded in all of the business 
activities associated with operating a financial 
institution. However, operational risk management 
formed part of an independent function within the 
bank’s enterprise-wide risk management framework.  
This framework included governance processes, 
policies and practices to identify, assess, measure, 
control, monitor, escalate and report operational risk.  
It is also designed to ensure the existence of and 
adherence to robust internal controls and to mitigate 
against losses, which would result from failed internal 
processes, people, systems or external events. 

Correspondent banking risks remained the largest 
operational risk faced by the Bank as the practice
of de-risking persisted globally by international 
banks. Despite ongoing advocacy from the level of 
the Regulator and other stakeholders both global 
and regional, the threat of de-risking continues to be 
ever present and is being managed and monitored. 
However, the Bank was able to retain all correspondent 
banking relationships by implementing enhanced 
compliance oversight to ensure that these critical 
relationships remain stable. 

Further, the Bank continued to maintain and improve 
its comprehensive business continuity and Crisis/
Incident Management programme, to ensure that 
the Bank could recover and resume its business and 
provide customers access to products and service 
following the occurrence of any disaster. Operational 
Risk Management also included oversight of the 
effective use of insurance, aligned with the Bank’s risk 
management strategy and risk appetite.
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Financial Reporting Responsibilities
The management of the East Caribbean Financial Holdings Company is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements and other financial information contained within this Annual Report. 
The accompanying financial statements were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. Where amounts had to be based on estimates and judgments, these represent the best estimates 
and judgments of Management.

In discharging its responsibility for the integrity and fairness of the financial statements, and for the accounting 
systems from which they were derived, Management has developed and maintains a system of accounting and 
reporting which provides the necessary internal controls that ensure transactions are properly authorized, assets 
are safeguarded against unauthorized use of or disposition and liabilities are recognized. This is supported by 
written policies and procedures; quality standards in recruiting and training employees; and an established 
organizational structure that permits accountability for performance within appropriate and well-defined areas 
of responsibility. An Audit Unit that conducts periodic audits of all aspects of the Group’s operations further 
supports the system of internal controls. 

The Board of Directors oversees Management responsibility for financial reporting through the Audit Committee, 
which comprises only Directors who are neither officers nor staff of the Bank. The primary responsibility of the 
Audit Committee is to review the Group’s internal control procedures and plan revision of those procedures, 
and to advise Directors on auditing matters and financial reporting issues. The Group’s Head of Internal Audit 
has full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee. 

The Eastern Caribbean Central Bank makes such examination and enquiry into the affairs of the Group as 
deemed necessary to ensure that the provision of the Banking Act relating to safety of depositors’ funds and 
shareholders’ equity is being observed and that the Group is in a sound financial condition. 

Ernst & Young appointed as Auditors by the shareholders of the Group, have examined the financial statements 
and their report follows. The shareholders’ auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit Committee 
to discuss their audit and related findings as to the integrity of the Group’s financial reporting and adequacy of 
the systems of internal control. 

Derry Williams     Ketha Auguste 
MANAGING DIRECTOR     CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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Auditor’s Report 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of Income

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
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Ernst & Young
P.O. Box BW 368
Baywalk Mall
Rodney Bay, Gros Islet
St. Lucia, W.I.

Street Address
2nd Floor, Mardini 
Building
Rodney Bay, Gros Islet
St. Lucia, W.I.

Tel:      758 458 4720/30
            758458 4316
            758 458 4997
Fax:     758 458 4710    
            www.ey.com

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EAST CARIBBEAN FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 
and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2017, and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2017 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA 
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit 
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, 
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the 
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT…CONTINUED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EAST CARIBBEAN FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Estimates used in the allowance for impairment on 
loans to customers
Areas of focus
Refer to Notes 2(h), 11 and 12 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

The allowance for impairment losses on loans and 
advances to customers is considered to be a 
significant matter as it requires the application of 
judgement and use of subjective assumptions by 
management. The identification of impairment and 
the determination of the recoverable amount are an 
inherently uncertain process involving various 
assumptions and factors including the financial 
condition of the counterparty and the timing and 
amount of expected future cash flows.

The Group records both collective and specific 
allowances of loans and advances to customers. In 
accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, impairment 
provisions are recognized for financial reporting 
purposes only for losses that have been incurred at 
the reporting date based on objective evidence of 
impairment. The recoverable amount of impaired
loans are assessed on an individual basis and is 
primarily based on the realization of the underlying 
collateral security. An assessment is made on the 
market value of the collateral and the time and cost to 
collect in determining the expected cash flows. 

Management is continuously assessing the 
assumptions used in the allowance for loan losses 
process, and estimates are changed to account for 
current market and economic conditions, including the 
state of the real estate market.  

We assessed and tested the design and operating 
effectiveness of controls over:
- Management’s process for making lending 
decisions inclusive of the approval, disbursement and 
monitoring of the loan portfolio.
- Data used to determine the provisions for loan 
impairment, including transactional data captured at 
loan origination, internal credit quality assessments, 
storage of data and computations.
In addition, we assessed the adequacy of the 
provision for loan losses by testing the key 
assumptions used in the Bank’s specific and 
collective loan loss allowance calculations, including 
the identification of impairment and forecast of 
future cash flows, valuation of underlying collateral 
and estimates of recovery on default. 

-We involved our internal valuation specialists in the 
review of third party valuations of the underlying 
collateral security.
-We reviewed the accounting for the allowance for 
loan loss impairment and assessed the reasonableness 
of the change in estimates based on the Group’s 
historical experience of the realization of security, 
actual collection of cash flows and the current market 
conditions. We assessed the model, inputs, and 
assumptions for the inherent risk provisions. 

In addition, we assessed the adequacy of the 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT….CONTINUED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EAST CARIBBEAN FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Fair Value of Investments
Refer to Notes 2(d), 3 and 14 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

The Group invests in various investment securities for 
which no published prices in active markets are 
available and have been classified as Level 2 and 
Level 3 assets within the IFRS fair value hierarchy. 

Valuation techniques for these investments can be
subjective in nature and involve various assumptions 
regarding pricing factors. Associated risk management 
disclosure is complex and dependent on high quality 
data. A specific area of audit focus includes the 
determination of fair value Level 2 assets and Level 3 
assets where valuation techniques are applied in which 
unobservable inputs are used. 

For Level 2 assets, these techniques include the use of 
recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other 
instruments that are substantially the same and 
discounted cash flow analyses making maximum use 
of market inputs, such as the market risk free yield 
curve.

Included in the Level 3 category are financial assets 
that are not quoted as there are no active markets to 
determine a price. 

We reviewed the reasonableness of the methods and 
assumptions used in determining the fair value of 
investment securities. We considered whether the 
methodology remains appropriate given current 
market conditions. We independently assessed the 
fair value of investments by performing independent 
valuations on the investment portfolio as well as 
recalculating the unrealized gain (loss) recognized. 
We verified that the required IFRS disclosures have 
been included in the consolidated financial 
statements at year end. We also reviewed 
management’s assessments of whether there are any 
indicators of impairment including those securities 
that are not actively traded.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT….CONTINUED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EAST CARIBBEAN FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Other information included in the Group’s 2017 Annual Report

Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2017 Annual Report other than the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is responsible for the other 
information. The Group’s 2017 Annual Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this 
auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management and the Audit Committee for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ….CONTINUED

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EAST CARIBBEAN FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ….CONTINUED
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF EAST CARIBBEAN FINANCIAL HOLDING COMPANY LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

The engagement executives in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report are John-Paul 
Kowlessar and Indira Regobert.

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
Castries
St. Lucia
22 March 2018
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   East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 December 2017 
 
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars) 
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2017 

$’000 
2016  

$’000 
Assets   
   
Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 6) 347,950 366,874 
Treasury bills (Note 7) 23,811 33,828 
Deposits with other banks (Note 8) 96,632 227,992 
Financial assets held for trading (Note 9) 19,642 18,600 
Deposits with non-bank financial institutions (Note 10) 5,412 8,730 
Investment securities (Note 14) 530,444 503,055 
Financial instruments - pledged assets (Note 15) 10,710 21,367 
Loans and receivables - loans and advances to customers (Note 11) 874,051 1,474,613 
                                       - bonds (Note 13) - 10,033 
Investment in associates (Note 16) 49,781 17,704 
Property and equipment (Note 17) 45,885 133,386 
Investment properties (Note 18) 37,455 9,328 
Intangible assets (Note 19) 1,093 4,893 
Other assets (Note 20) 55,336 63,258 
Retirement benefit asset (Note 22) 13,615 10,627 
Deferred tax asset (Note 27) 820 - 
Income tax recoverable 5,353 4,179 
Assets of disposal group held for sale (Note 40) - 740,644 
   
Total assets 2,117,990 3,649,111 
   
Liabilities   
   
Deposits from banks (Note 23) 43,298 85,901 
Due to customers (Note 24) 1,799,588 2,441,886 
Repurchase agreements (Note 15) 13,703 13,839 
Dividends payable 291 566 
Borrowings (Note 25) 79,181 139,710 
Preference shares (Note 46) 4,150 4,150 
Other liabilities (Note 26) 29,206 93,112 
Deferred tax liability (Note 27) - 298 
Liabilities of disposal group held for sale (Note 40) - 724,067 
   
Total liabilities 1,969,417 3,503,529 
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   East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)
As at 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued) 
As at 31 December 2017 
 
(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars) 
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2017 

$’000 

 
2016 

$’000 
Equity   
Share capital (Note 28)  170,081 170,081 
Contributed capital (Note 29)  4,118 1,118 
Reserves (Note 31)  184,420 163,567 
Revaluation surplus  13,855 13,855 
Unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale  investments  7,017 (793) 
Accumulated deficit   (230,918) (254,104) 
    
Attributable to the Company’s equity holders  148,573 93,724 
    
Non – controlling interests (Note 30)  - 51,858 
    
Total equity  148,573 145,582 
    
    
Total liabilities and equity   2,117,990 3,649,111 
 
The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on 22nd March 2018. 
 
 
 
 
_______________________________Director  ________________________Director 
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   East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)
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2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000

Continuing operations

Interest income (Note 33) 80,503 76,981
Interest expense (Note 33) (32,145) (35,490)

Net interest income 48,358 41,491
Other operating income (Notes 34,35,36,37) 56,842 47,105
Impairment losses - loans (Note 12) (15,696) (128,782)
Impairment losses – investments (Note 14) (735) -
Operating expenses (Note 38) (62,524) (66,935)
Operating profit/(loss) 26,245 (107,121)
Share of profit in associates (Note 16) 3,074 3,915

Profit/(loss) for the year before income tax and dividends 29,319 (103,206)
Dividends on preference shares (291) (291)
Profit/(loss) for the year before income tax 29,028 (103,497)
Income tax recovery/(expense) (Note 41) 2,806 (5,726)
Net profit/(loss) for the year from continuing operations

31,834 (109,223)

Discontinued  operations

Profit for the year from discontinued operations (Note 40) 683 12,882

Gain on disposal of controlling interest of subsidiary (Note 40) 4,472 -

Provision for loss on disposal of subsidiary (Note 40) - (15,453)

Net profit/(loss) for the year
36,989 (111,794)

Attributable to:
-Equity holders of the Company 36,989 (114,213)

-Non-controlling interests (Note 30) - 2,419

Profit/(loss) for the year 36,989 (111,794)

Loss per share from continuing operations for earnings attributable to the equity
holders of the Company during the year (Note 42)
- basic 1.30 (4.46)

 - diluted 1.27 (4.31)
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2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000

Net profit/(loss) for the year 36,989 (111,794)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods:
Unrealised gain on available-for-sale investments 5,665 6,931
Realised gain transferred from statement of income (401) (178)
Reclassification of fair value gains on disposal of subsidiaries (3,221) -

2,043 6,753

Share of fair value gains on available for sale assets of associated companies 5,767 152

Other comprehensive gain not to be reclassified  to profit or loss
in subsequent period:
Re-measurement gains on defined benefit pension scheme (Note 22) 744 849
Income tax effect (223) (255)

521 594

Net other comprehensive income 8,331 7,499

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 45,320 (104,295)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company 45,320 (106,664)
Non-controlling interests (Note 30) - 2,369

45,320 (104,295)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit/(loss) before preference dividends and tax 34,474 (103,078)
Adjustments to reconcile loss before tax to net cash flows:

Interest income on investments (19,329) (29,490)
Depreciation 3,848 7,774
Impairment losses on loans, advances and investment securities 15,696 135,400
Impairment loss on investment securities 735 -
Amortisation of intangible assets 661 2,018
Unrealised gain/(loss) on investments held for trading 25 (17)
Retirement benefit expense 809 530
Provision for loss on disposal of subsidiary - 15,453
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property and equipment (52) 6
Gain on disposal of investment properties (813) -
Fair value loss on investment property - 1,315
Fair value gains reclassified (25) -
Share of profit of associate (3,074) (3,915)
Gain on disposal of controlling interest (4,472) -
Net (gains)/losses on disposal of investments (2,152) (1,118)
Amortisation premium on investments (520) (368)
Retirement benefit contributions paid (3,053) (2,411)

Cash flows before changes in operating assets and liabilities 22,758 22,099

Increase in mandatory deposits with Central Bank (30,358) (5,155)
Decrease in loans and advances to customers (15,203) 43,349
Increase in other assets (9,416) (21,467)
Increase/(decrease) in due to customers 100,474 (69,365)
Decrease in repurchase agreements (136) (6,097)
(Decrease)/increase in deposits from banks 25,420 8,322
Decrease/(increase) in other liabilities (3,802) 25,200
Decrease/(increase) in financial instruments - pledged assets 10,509 (3,818)
Increase in trading assets (3,063) (3,608)
Decrease in treasury bills 1,777 2,121

Cash generated from/(used in) operations 98,960 (8,419)

Income tax paid - (2,063)
Interest received 17,379 29,708

Net cash generated from operating activities 116,339 19,226
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2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investment securities (231,621) (383,411)
Proceeds from disposal and redemption of investment securities 167,247 248,423
Dividend from associates 264 -
Purchase of property and equipment (1,941) (3,386)
Purchase of investment properties (65) -
Purchase of intangible assets (800) (398)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment 50 126
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary   67,747 -
Disposal of subsidiary-net cash outflow (601,149) -

Net cash used in investing activities (600,268) (138,646)

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to minority shareholders - (1,421)
Dividends paid to preference shareholders (581) -
Reserve reduction - (376)
Proceeds from capital contributions 9,529 -
Proceeds from borrowings - 55,357
Repayments of borrowings (14,448) (32,293)

Net cash (used in)/ generated from financing activities (5,500) 21,267

Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (489,429) (98,153)

Net foreign exchange movement in investments - 4,454

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 840,474 934,173

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 43) 351,045 840,474

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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1 General information

In October 2016 the East Caribbean Financial Holding Company limited (ECFH) was amalgamated with Bank of
Saint Lucia Limited and ECFH Global Investment Solutions in accordance with the provisions of the Companies
Act CAP 13.01, Revised Laws of Saint Lucia and continued as Bank of Saint Lucia Limited. Another company
with the same name East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited was then reincorporated under the same
act to hold the shares of Bank of Saint Lucia Limited, Bank of Saint Lucia International Limited and Bank of St.
Vincent & the Grenadines.

Bank  of  Saint  Lucia  Limited,  and  ECFH are  in  compliance  with  the  Companies  Acts  and  Banking  Acts  and  the
provisions of the Insurance Act, 1995.

The principal activity of the company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is the provision of financial services. The
registered  office  and  principal  place  of  business  of  the  Company  is  located  at  No.1  Bridge  Street,  Castries,  Saint
Lucia.

The principal shareholding of the Group is stated in Note 45.

The Company is listed on the Eastern Caribbean Securities Exchange.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance
East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) as at 31 December 2017 (the reporting date).

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss classified
in the consolidated statement of financial position as trading financial assets and land and buildings classified as
property and equipment and investment properties.

The  preparation  of  financial  statements  in  conformity  with  IFRS  requires  the  use  of  certain  critical  accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.



38 REPOSITIONING FOR THE FUTURE

   East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

15

2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Basis of preparation…continued

(a) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures:

The Group applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The Group has not early adopted any other standard,
interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

Although these new standards and amendments were applied for the first time in 2017, they did not have
a material impact on the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group. The nature and the impact
of each new standard or amendment are described below:

IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative – Amendments to IAS 7
The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows are part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative and require
an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes. On
initial application of the amendment, entities are not required to provide comparative information for
preceding periods. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 and
did not have a significant impact on the Group.

IAS  12  Recognition  of  Deferred  Tax  Assets  for  Unrealised  Losses – Amendments  to  IAS  12
The amendments clarify that an entity needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits
against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance on how an entity should determine future taxable profits and explain the
circumstances in which taxable profits may include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying
amount. Entities are required to apply the amendments retrospectively. However, on initial application of the
amendments, the change in the opening equity of the earliest comparative period may be recognised in
opening retained earnings (or in another component of equity, as appropriate), without allocating the change
between opening retained earnings and other components of equity. Entities applying this relief must disclose
that fact. This amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 and did not
have a significant impact on the Group.

IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities - Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle (Clarifying Scope)
The amendments clarify that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12 apply to an entity’s interest in a
subsidiary,  joint  venture or  an associate  that  is  classified as  held for  sale.  This  amendment  is  effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 and did not have a significant impact on the Group.



Annual Report 2017 | East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited      39 

   East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

16

2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Basis of preparation…continued

(b) Standards issued but not yet effective
The  standards  and  interpretations  that  are  issued,  but  not  yet  effective,  up  to  the  date  of  issuance  of  the
Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable,
when they become effective.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, the standard that will replace IAS 39 for annual
periods on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted.  In 2015 the Group set up a
multidisciplinary implementation team (‘the Team’) with members from its various subsidiaries, Risk,
Finance, Information Technology and Operations to prepare for IFRS 9 implementation (‘the Project’). The
Project is sponsored by the Chief Financial Officer, who regularly report to the Group’s Supervisory Board.
The Project’s Expected Credit Loss Model is expected to run parallel with the IAS 39 by the first quarter of
2018 and thereafter fully implemented before the end of the second quarter.

Classification and measurement
 From a classification and measurement perspective, the new standard will require all financial assets, except
equity instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a combination of the entity’s business model for
managing the assets and the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics.  The IAS 39 measurement
categories  will  be  replaced  by:  Fair  Value  through  profit  or  loss  (FVPL),  Fair  Value  through  other
comprehensive  income  (FVOCI),  and  amortised  cost.  IFRS  9  will  also  allow  entities  to  continue  to
irrevocably designate instruments that qualify for amortised cost or fair value through OCI instruments as
FVPL, if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency. Equity
instruments that are not held for trading may be irrevocably designated as FVOCI, with no subsequent
reclassification of gains or losses to the income statement.

The accounting for financial liabilities will largely be the same as the requirements of IAS 39, except for the
treatment of gains or losses arising from an entity’s own credit risk relating to liabilities designated at FVPL.
Such movements will be presented in OCI with no subsequent reclassification to the income statement, unless
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss would arise.

The Group does not expect an adverse impact from application of the impairment requirements of IFRS 9.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Basis of preparation…continued

(b) Standards issued but not yet effective…continued

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
In  May  2014,  the  IASB issued  IFRS 15  Revenue  from Contracts  with  Customers,  effective  for  periods
beginning on 1 January 2018 with early adoption permitted. IFRS 15 defines principles for recognising
revenue and will be applicable to all contracts with customers. However, interest and fee income integral
to financial instruments and leases will continue to fall outside the scope of IFRS 15 and will be regulated
by the other applicable standards (e.g., IFRS 9, and IFRS 16 Leases).

Revenue under IFRS 15 will need to be recognised as goods and services are transferred, to the extent that
the transferor anticipates entitlement to goods and services. The standard will also specify a comprehensive
set of disclosure requirements regarding the nature, extent and timing as well as any uncertainty of revenue
and corresponding cash flows with customers.

The Group is not early adopting IFRS 15 and is currently evaluating its impact.

IFRS 16 Leases
The IASB issued the new standard for accounting for leases - IFRS 16 Leases in January 2016. The new
standard does not significantly change the accounting for leases for lessors. However, it does require lessees
to recognise most leases on their balance sheets as lease liabilities, with the corresponding right of-use
assets. Lessees must apply a single model for all recognised leases, but will have the option not to recognise
‘short-term’ leases and leases of ‘low-value’ assets. Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for
recognised leases will be similar to today’s finance lease accounting, with interest and depreciation expense
recognised separately in the statement of profit or loss.

IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early application is permitted
provided the new revenue standard, IFRS 15, is applied on the same date. Lessees must adopt IFRS 16
using either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach.

The Group is not early adopting IFRS 16 and is currently evaluating its impact.

IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions Amendments to
IFRS 2 (effective January 1, 2018).

These amendments are in relation to the classification and measurement of share-based payment
transactions. The amendments address three main areas:
- The effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.
- The classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax
obligations.
- The accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled to equity-settled.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

Basis of preparation…continued

(b) Standards issued but not yet effective…continued
IAS 40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Properties – Amendments to IAS 40 (effective
January 1, 2018)
The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or
development into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when
the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the
change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions, for the use of the property does not provide
evidence of a change in use.

(c) Consolidation
The financial statements of the subsidiaries used to prepare the consolidated financial statements were
prepared as of the Parent Company’s reporting date. The consolidation principles are unchanged as against
the previous year.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprise the financial statements of the parent entity and
all subsidiaries as of 31 December 2017.

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee)

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns
• When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers

all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies …continued

(c) Consolidation…continued
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets,
liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases
to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

• Derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
• Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest
• Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
• Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
• Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive

income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of income from the effective acquisition date or up to the effective date on which control ceases,
as appropriate.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(c) Consolidation…continued
The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in the statement of income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies have
been eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
impairment of the asset transferred.

The integration of the subsidiaries into the consolidated financial statements is based on consistent
accounting methods.

(a) Transactions with non-controlling interests and associates
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the group.
For purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on
disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity. Any losses applicable to the non-controlling
interest are allocated against the interests of the non-controlling interest even if this results in a deficit
balance. Non-controlling interests are presented separately within equity in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(c) Consolidation…continued
(b) Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies. Investment in associates is accounted for by the equity method of accounting and initially
recognised at cost.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an
impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether
there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the
Group  calculates  the  amount  of  impairment  as  the  difference  between  the  recoverable  amount  of  the
associate  and  its  carrying  value,  and  then  recognizes  the  loss  as  ‘Share  of  profit  of  an  associate’  in  the
statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture
upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognized in profit or loss. The Group’s share of its associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated statement of income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in
reserves recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s  interest  in  the  associate.  Unrealised  losses  are  also  eliminated  unless  the  transaction  provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

(d) Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial  instruments  such as  investment  securities  and non- financial  asset  such as
investment  properties,  at  fair  value  at  each  reporting  date.  Fair  value  related  disclosures  for  financial
instruments and non-financial assets that are measured at fair value or where fair values are disclosed, are
summarised in the following notes:

Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions  Notes 2,3,14 and 18
Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy     Note 3
Investment  properties              Note  18
Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost)    Note 14, 9
Land and buildings    Note  17

Fair  value  is  the  price  that  would  be  received  to  sell  an  asset  or  paid  to  transfer  a  liability  in  an  orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(d) Fair value measurement…continued
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participants ability to generate economic
benefits by using the assets in its highest and best use or by selling to another participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group determines the policies and procedures for both recurring and non-recurring fair value
measurement.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservable inputs.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three
months’ maturity from the date of acquisition including: cash and non-restricted balances with the Central
Bank, treasury bills, deposits with other banks, deposits with a non-bank financial institutions and other short-
term securities.

(f) Financial assets
The Group allocates financial assets to the following IAS 39 categories: financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and available-for-sale financial assets.
Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories; financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value
through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as fair value through profit or loss if acquired
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that
are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.

Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; transaction costs are
taken directly to the consolidated statement of income. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
are included directly in the consolidated statement of income and are reported as ‘Fair value gains’. Interest
income and expense and dividend income and expenses on financial assets held for trading are included in
‘Net interest income‘. The instruments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired
or the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the transfer qualifies for
derecognising.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(f) Financial asset …continued
(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market, other than: (a) those that the entity intends to sell immediately or in the short term,
which are classified as held for trading, or those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as at fair
value through profit or loss; (b) those that the entity upon initial recognition designates as available-for-sale.

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to originate or
purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Loans and receivables are reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position as loans and advances to customers or as investment securities. Interest on loans and receivables is
included in the consolidated statement of income. In the case of impairment, the impairment loss is reported
as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and receivables and recognised in the consolidated
statement of income.

(c) Held-to-maturity
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other
than: (a) those that the Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit or loss; (b)
those  that  the  Group  designates  as  available-for-sale;  and  (c)  those  that  meet  the  definition  of  loans  and
receivables. These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs are
measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest on
held-to-maturity investments is included in the consolidated statement of income. The losses arising from
impairment are recognised in the consolidated statement of income as impairment losses on investments.

If the Group were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity assets, the entire category
would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-sale. The difference between the carrying value and fair
value is recognised in equity.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(f)  Financial assets…continued
(d) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time,
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity
prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to- maturity investments or financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash consideration
including any transaction costs, and measured subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign
exchange gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised. Management makes judgements at each
reporting date to determine whether available-for-sale investments are impaired. These investments are
impaired when the carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and there is objective evidence of
impairment. If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of income. Interest is calculated using the effective interest method, and foreign
currency gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available-for-sale are recognised in the
consolidated statement of income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the
consolidated statement of income when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. Where fair value
cannot be determined cost was used to value investments.

(g) Recognition/Derecognition
The Group uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial asset transactions.
Financial assets that are transferred to a third party but do not qualify for derecognition are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as ‘Assets pledged as collateral.’

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to the cash flows from the asset has expired or when it has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(h) Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at  each reporting date  whether  there is  objective evidence that  a  financial  asset  or
group  of  financial  assets  is  impaired.  A  financial  asset  or  a  group  of  financial  assets  is  impaired  and
impairment losses are incurred if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or
events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is objective evidence of an impairment loss include:
(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
(iii) the Group granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower’s financial

difficulty, a concession that the lender would not otherwise consider;
(iv) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
(v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from

a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot
yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the group, including;

- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group; or
- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the group.

The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by local management
for each identified portfolio. In general, the periods used vary between three months and 12 months; in
exceptional cases, longer periods are warranted.

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets
that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the assets in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.  Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

Loans and advances that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually
performing loans and advances are assessed collectively in groups of assets with similar risk characteristics
to determine whether provisions should be made due to incurred loss events which are not yet evident.
The collective assessment takes account of data from the loan portfolio such as credit quality, levels of
arrears, credit utilisation, loan to collateral ratios, concentrations of risks and economic data country risk
and the performance of different groups.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(h) Impairment of financial assets …continued
Assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments
carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s  carrying  amount  and  the  present  value  of  the  estimated  future  cash  flows  (excluding  future  credit
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the consolidated statement of income. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment has variable
interest  rates,  the  discount  rate  for  measuring  any  impairment  loss  is  the  current  effective  interest  rate
determined under the contract.

The  calculation  of  the  present  value  of  the  estimated  future  cash  flows  of  a  collateralised  financial  asset
reflects the cash flows that may or may not result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the
collateral, whether or not the foreclosure is probable.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. Such loans
are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has been
determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off decrease the amount of the loan
provision in the consolidated statement of income.

If,  in  a  subsequent  period,  the  amount  of  the  impairment  loss  decreases  and  the  decrease  can  be  related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The
amount of the reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Assets classified as available-for-sale
The Group makes judgments at each reporting date to determine whether available-for-sale investments are
impaired. These investments are impaired when the carrying value is greater than the recoverable amount and
there is objective evidence of impairment.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is objective evidence of impairment resulting in the recognition of an
impairment loss. If any such evidence exists for available-for sale financial assets, the cumulative loss –
measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the consolidated income statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(h) Impairment of financial assets …continued
Assets classified as available-for-sale…continued
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and
the increase can be objectively related to an event  occurring after  the impairment  loss  was recognised in
profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated income statement.

Renegotiated loans
During the normal course of business financial assets carried at amortised cost may be restructured with the
mutual agreement of the “Group” and the counterparty. When this occurs for reasons other than those which
could be considered indicators of impairment, the Group assesses whether the restructured or renegotiated
financial  asset  is  significantly  different  from  the  original  one  by  comparing  the  present  value  of  the
restructured cash flows discounted at the original instruments interest rate. If the restructured terms are
significantly different the group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a new one at fair
value with any difference recognized in the statement of income.

(i) Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(j) Sale and repurchase agreements
Securities sold subject to linked repurchase agreements (repos) are retained in the financial statements as
investments securities and the counterparty liability is included in other borrowed funds. The difference
between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the repurchase agreement
using the effective interest method.

(k) Property and equipment
Land and buildings comprises mainly branches and offices occupied by the parent or its subsidiaries. Land
and buildings are shown at fair value less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Valuations are reviewed
annually by quantity surveyors.

Subsequent expenditures are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to other
comprehensive income. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against other
comprehensive income, all other decreases are charged to the consolidated statement of income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(k) Property and equipment…continued
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated on the straight-line method to allocate their
cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements 2 – 33 1/3%
Motor vehicles 20 – 25%
Office furniture & equipment 10 – 20%
Computer equipment 33 1/3%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate at each reporting date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
fair value less cost to sell and value in use.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included
in the consolidated statement of income.

(l) Investment properties
Properties that are held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that are not occupied
by the entities in the consolidated group, are classified as investment properties. Investment property
comprises freehold land and building which are leased out under operating leases. Some properties may be
partially occupied by the Group, with the remainder being held for rental income or capital appreciation. If
that part of the property occupied by the Group can be sold separately, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. The portion that is owner-occupied is accounted for under IAS 16, and the portion that is held for
rental income or capital appreciation or both is treated as investment property under IAS 40.

Recognition of investment properties takes place only when it is probable that the future economic benefits
that are associated with the investment property will flow to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably.
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes
the  cost  of  replacing  parts  of  an  existing  investment  property  at  the  time  the  cost  was  incurred  if  the
recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the date of the consolidated statement of financial position. Gains or losses arising from changes
in the fair value of investment properties are included in the consolidated statement of income in the year in
which they arise.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(l) Investment properties …continued
Subsequent expenditure is included in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the consolidated statement of income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Investment property is carried at fair value, representing open market value determined annually by external
professionally qualified valuers. Fair value is adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location
or condition of the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation
methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Investment property
is reviewed annually by independent external evaluators.

Investment property is measured at cost until the earlier of the date construction is completed and the date at
which fair value becomes reliably measurable.

(m) Intangible assets
Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable intangible items arising from business combinations,
computer software licences and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost. The cost of
an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Intangible
assets  with  a  definite  useful  life  are  amortized  using  the  straight-line  method  over  their  estimated  useful
economic life, generally not exceeding 20 years.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. Generally, the identified intangible assets of
the Group have a definite useful life. At each reporting date, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of
impairment or changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets
are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Group chooses
to use the cost model for the measurement after recognition.

(a) Computer software licences
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring
to use the specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected useful lives. Software
has a maximum expected useful life of 4 years.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(m) Intangible assets…continued
(b) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets consist of customer relationships (core deposit intangibles). Other intangible assets
are initially recognised when they are separable or arise from contractual or other legal rights, the cost can
be measured reliably and, in the case of intangible assets not acquired in a business combination, where it is
probable that future economic benefits attributable to the assets will flow from their use. The value of
intangible assets which are acquired in a business combination is generally determined using income
approach methodologies such as the discounted cash flow method. Other intangible assets are stated at cost
less  amortisation  and  provisions  for  impairment,  if  any,  plus  reversals  of  impairment,  if  any.  They  are
amortised over their useful lives in a manner that reflects the pattern to which they contribute to future cash
flows, generally over 12 years.

(n) Impairment of other non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash generating units).

(o) Income tax
(a) Current tax
Income  tax  payable  (receivable)  is  calculated  on  the  basis  of  the  applicable  tax  law  in  the  respective
jurisdiction and is  recognised as  an expense (income) for  the period except  to  the extent  that  current  tax
related to items that are charged or credited in other comprehensive income. In these circumstances, current
tax is charged or credited to other comprehensive income.

Where tax losses can be relieved only by carry-forward against taxable profits of future periods, a deductible
temporary difference arises. Those losses carried forward are set off against deferred tax liabilities carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group does not offset income tax liabilities and current income tax assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(o) Income tax…continued
(b) Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred income
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset  is  realised or  the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of property and equipment, amortisation of
intangible assets and their tax base, unutilised tax losses and pension gains. However, the deferred tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting, nor taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

(p) Financial liabilities
The Group’s holding in financial liabilities are at amortised cost.  Financial liabilities are derecognised when
extinguished.

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits from banks or customers and debt securities in
issue for which the fair value option is not applied.

(q) Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of consideration
received) net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the
consolidated statement of income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

(r) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, it is more likely that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

(s)  Redeemable preference shares
Preference shares which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date are classified as liabilities. The
dividend on these preference shares are recognised in the statement of income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(t) Employee benefits
Pension obligations
The Group operates a defined benefit plan. The scheme is funded through payments to trustee-administered
funds, determined by periodic actuarial calculations.  The plan is registered in St. Lucia and is regulated by
the Insurance Act, 1994 which was enacted in 1995. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an
amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation. The pension obligation valuations are undertaken
annually.

The Group’s policy is to fully fund the pension and to meet any funding shortfalls over a period of ten years
following regular periodical actuarial reviews.

The asset recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension
plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of plan
assets. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit
credit  method.  Re-measurements,  comprising of  actuarial  gains and losses,  the effect  of  the asset  ceiling,
excluding net interest and the return on plan assets, are recognized immediately in the statement of financial
position with a corresponding debit or credit to retained earnings through other comprehensive income in
the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to the consolidated statement of income
in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in the consolidated statement of income on the earlier of:
-  The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and
-  The date that the Group recognises restructuring-related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group
recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under ‘operating expenses’ in
the consolidated statement of income:

- Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtailments and
non-routine settlements

- Net interest expense or income

The pension plan is exposed to inflation risk, interest rate risk and changes in the life expectancy for
pensioners.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

 (t) Employee benefits….continued
Termination benefits
Termination  benefits  are  payable  when  employment  is  terminated  before  the  normal  retirement  date,  or
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current
employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the reporting date are discounted to present value.

(u) Guarantees and letters of credit
Guarantees and letters of credit comprise undertakings by the Group’s banking entities to pay bills of
exchange drawn on customers. The Bank expects most guarantees and letters of credit to be settled
simultaneously with the reimbursement from the customers.  Such financial guarantees are given to banks,
financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of customers.

The fair value of a financial guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all guarantees are agreed on
arm’s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to the value of the guarantee
obligation.  No receivable for  the future premiums is  recognised.  Any increase in the liability  relating to
guarantees is reported in the statement of income within other operating expenses.

(v) Fiduciary activities
The Group commonly acts a trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding and placing
of assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. These assets and
income arising thereon are excluded from these consolidated financial statements, as they are not assets of
the Group.

(w) Share capital

(i) Share issue costs
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options or to the acquisition of a business
are shown in equity as a deduction, from the proceeds.

(ii) Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(x) Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the consolidated statement of income for all financial
instruments measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial assets or a financial
liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates
cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider future credit
losses. The calculation includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once  a  financial  asset  or  a  group  of  similar  financial  assets  has  been  written  down  as  a  result  of  an
impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

(y) Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.
Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct
costs) and recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Commission and fees arising
from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction for a third party, such as the
arrangement  of  the  acquisition  of  shares  or  other  securities  or  the  purchase  or  sale  of  a  business,  are
recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management advisory and
service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time apportioned basis.
Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised rateably over the period the service is
provided. The same principle is applied for financial planning and custody services that are continuously
provided over an extended period of time.

(z) Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established.

(zi) Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions that are transactions denominated, or that require settlement in a foreign
currency are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(zi)  Foreign currency translation…continued
Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the closing rates as at the reporting
date. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated with
the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

In the case of changes in the fair value of monetary assets denominated in foreign currency classified as
available-for-sale, a distinction is made between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised
cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related
to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount,
except impairment, are recognised in other comprehensive income. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial instruments, such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial instruments, such as
equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the other comprehensive income.

Group companies
The functional currency of the wholly owned offshore banking subsidiary is United States dollars. For
consolidation purposes the results and financial position are translated to the presentation currency of the
Group using the pegged rate of EC$2.70 = US$1.00.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the reporting date;

• Income  and  expenses  for  each  income  statement  are  translated  at  average  exchange  rates  (unless  this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

• All resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(zii) Leases
A Group company is the lessee
The leases entered into by the Group are primarily operating leases.  The total payments made under
operating leases are charged to the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period
of the lease.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period is expired, any payment required to be made
to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which the termination takes place.

A Group company is the lessor
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties in the statement of financial
position. They are depreciated over the expected useful life. Rental income is recognised in the consolidated
statement of income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(ziii) Financial instruments
Financial instruments carried on the consolidated statement of financial position include cash resources,
investment securities, loans and advances to customers, deposits with other banks, deposits from banks, due
to customers and borrowings. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the individual
policy statement associated with each item.

(ziv) Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or group that allocates resources
to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity. The Group has determined the
Company’s Board of Directors as its chief operating decision maker.

All transactions between business segments are conducted on an arm’s length basis, with intra-segment
revenue and costs being eliminated in head office. Income and expenses directly associated with each
segment are included in determining business segment performance.

In accordance with IFRS 8, the Group had the following reportable segments: Bank of St. Lucia Limited,
Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited until the disposal date of June 30th 2017, Bank of St. Lucia
International Limited until the disposal date of March 10, 12017, and other. During the reporting period the
Group disposed of its majority holding in Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited and Bank of St.
Lucia International.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies…continued

(zv)  Non-current assets held for sale and disposal groups
Non-current assets and disposal group’s classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or
disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition, management has committed to the
sale, and the sale is expected to have been completed within one year from the date of classification.

A disposal group qualifies as discontinued operation if it is a component of an entity that either has been
disposed  of,  or  is  classified  as  held  for  sale,  and:  (i)  Represents  a  separate  major  line  of  business  or
geographical area of operations (ii) Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of
business or geographical area of operations Or (iii) Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

In the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the reporting period, and the comparable period
in the previous year, income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income
and expenses from continuing operations, down to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Bank retains
a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the sale. The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported
separately in the statement of comprehensive income.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or
amortised. See Note 40 (Disposal Group Classified as held for sale) for further discussion.

.
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3 Financial risk management

Strategy in using financial instruments
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those activities involve the analysis, evaluation,
acceptance and management of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the financial
business, and the operational risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. The Group’s aim is therefore
to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date information
systems.  The Group regularly reviews its  risk management  policies  and systems to reflect  changes in markets,
products and emerging best practice.

Risk management is carried out by the Management Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors.
The Group’s Management Committee identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the Group’s operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and non-derivative
financial instruments. In addition, the Internal Audit Department is responsible for the independent review of risk
management and the control environment.

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and other operational risk. Market risk
includes currency risk and interest rate risk.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Group’s customers, clients or market
counterparties fail to fulfill their contractual obligations to the Group. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial
and consumer loans and advances, credit cards, and loan commitments arising from such lending activities, but
can also arise from credit enhancement provided, such as credit financial guarantees, letters of credit, endorsements
and acceptances.

The Group is also exposed to other credit risks arising from balances with central bank, deposits with other banks
and non-bank financial institutions, investments in debt securities and other exposures arising from its trading
activities (‘trading exposures’), including non-equity trading portfolio assets.

Loans and advances
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk which, is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts in
full when due. Impairment provisions are provided for losses that have been incurred at the reporting date.
Significant changes in the economy, or in the health of a particular industry segment that represents a concentration
in the Group’s portfolio, could result in losses that are different from those provided for at the reporting date.
Management therefore carefully manages its exposure to credit risk.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Credit risk…continued
Debt securities and other bills
For debt securities and treasury bills, external rating such as Standard & Poor’s or Caricris or their equivalents are
used by the Asset Liability Committee for managing of the credit risk exposures. The investments in those securities
and bills are viewed as a way to gain a better credit quality mapping and maintain a readily available source to meet
the funding requirements at the same time.

Cash and balances with Central Bank
Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group in accordance with the
Group’s policy. Counterparty credit limits are reviewed by the Group’s Risk Department on an annual basis, and
may be updated throughout the year subject to approval of the Group’s Investment Committee and where necessary
The Board of Directors. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and therefore mitigate financial
loss through potential counterparty’s failure to make payments.

Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Group manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified − in particular, to
individual counterparties and groups, and to industries and countries.

The  Group  structures  the  levels  of  credit  risk  it  undertakes  by  placing  limits  on  the  amount  of  risk  accepted  in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to the industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a
revolving basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary by the Board of
Directors.

Exposure to credit risk is also managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers
to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where appropriate.

Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below.

Collateral
The Group employs a  range of  policies  and practices  to  mitigate  credit  risk.  The most  traditional  of  these is  the
taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Group implements guidelines on the
acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans and
advances are:

• Mortgages over residential properties;
• Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory and accounts receivable; and
• Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Credit risk…continued

Collateral…continued
The Group’s credit risk management policies include requirements relating to collateral valuation and management,
including verification requirements and legal certainty. Valuations are updated periodically depending upon the
nature of the collateral. Management monitors the market value of collateral and requests additional collateral in
accordance with the underlying agreement  during its  periodic review of  loan accounts  in  arrears.  Policies  are  in
place to monitor the existence of undesirable concentration in the collateral supporting the Group’s credit exposure.

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are secured; individual credit facilities are generally secured.
In addition, in order to minimize the credit loss, the Group will seek additional credit collateral from the counterparty
as soon as impairment indicators are noticed for the relevant individual loans and advances.

Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.

Credit-related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees
and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit –
which are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the
Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorizations to extend credit in the form of loans,
guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially
exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than
the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining
specific credit standards. The Group monitors the term to maturity of credit commitments because longer-term
commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments.

Impairment and provisioning policies
The internal rating systems focus more on credit-quality mapping from the inception of the lending and investment
activities. In contrast, impairment provisions are recognised for financial reporting purposes only for losses that
have been incurred at the reporting date based on objective evidence of impairment.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Credit risk…continued

Impairment and provisioning policies…continued
Management determines whether objective evidence of impairment exists based on the following criteria set out by
the Group:

• Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or interest;
• Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower (eg equity ratio, net income percentage of sales);
• Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
• Initiation of bankruptcy proceedings;
• Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position; and
• Deterioration in the value of collateral.

The Group’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at least
annually or more regularly when individual circumstances require. Impairment allowances on individually assessed
accounts are determined by an evaluation of the incurred loss at reporting date on a case-by-case basis, and are
applied to all individually significant accounts. The assessment normally encompasses collateral held (including re-
confirmation of its enforceability) and the anticipated receipts for that individual account.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Credit risk…continued

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Maximum exposure
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Credit risk exposures relating to the financial assets in the statement
of financial position :

Balances with central bank 315,534 319,475
Treasury bills 23,811 33,828
Deposits with other banks 96,632 227,992
Deposits with non-bank financial institutions 5,412 8,730

Loans and advances to customers:
Large corporate loans 280,565 415,434
Term loans 208,447 292,765
Mortgages 355,747 650,399
Overdrafts 29,292 116,015
Bonds - 10,033

Financial assets held for trading 19,642 18,600
Investment securities 517,280 485,265
Financial instruments - pledged assets 10,710 21,367
Other assets 52,580 59,630

1,915,652 2,659,533

Credit risk exposures relating to the financial assets off the statement
of financial position:

Loan commitments 69,838 84,356
Guarantees, letters of credit and other credit obligations 23,765 27,182

93,603 111,538

2,009,255 2,771,071

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Group at 31 December 2017 and
2016 without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For on-balance-sheet
assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as at the reporting date.

As shown above 46% (2016 – 53%) of the total maximum exposure is derived from loans and advances to customers
and 27% (2016 – 18%) represents investments in debt securities.



66 REPOSITIONING FOR THE FUTURE

   East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

43

3 Financial risk management …continued

Credit risk…continued
Loans and advances are summarised as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Loans and advances to customers
Neither past due nor impaired 523,199 990,385
Past due but not impaired 104,238 187,695
Impaired 342,229 409,205

Gross 969,666 1,587,285

Less allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances (95,615) (112,672)

Net 874,051 1,474,613

The total allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances is $95,615 (2016 – $112,672) of which $71,524
(2016 – $74,443) represents the individually impaired loans and the remaining amount of $24,091 (2016 – $38,229)
represents the collective provision. Further information of the allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances
to customers is provided in Notes 11 and 12.

Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by
reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Group.

Loans and advances to customers

Overdrafts
$’000

Term
Loans
$’000

Mortgages
$’000

Large
Corporate

loans
$’000

Total
$’000

31 December 2017 24,623 125,549 264,708 108,319 523,199

31 December 2016 104,633 186,403 502,019 197,330 990,385
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3 Financial risk management …continued

Credit risk…continued

Loans and advances…continued
Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Loans and advances less than 90 days past due are not considered impaired, unless other information is available
to indicate the contrary. The gross amount of loans and advances by class to customers that were past due but not
impaired were as follows:

Term
Loans
$’000

Mortgages
$’000

Large
Corporate

loans
$’000

Overdrafts
$’000

Total
$’000

At 31 December 2017
Past due up to 30 days 19,557 33,100 18,897 - 71,554
Past due 30 – 60 days 4,778 5,641 10,577 - 20,996
Past due 60 – 90 days 4,422 2,803 4,463 - 11,688

28,757 41,544 33,937 - 104,238

Term
loans
$’000

Mortgages
$’000

Large
Corporate

Loans
$’000

Overdrafts
$’000

Total
$’000

At 31 December 2016
Past due up to 30 days 30,570 74,388 38,231 153 143,342
Past due 30 – 60 days 7,442 12,541 6,732 3 26,718
Past due 60 – 90 days 4,944 7,858 4,833 - 17,635

42,956 94,787 49,796 156 187,695
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Credit risk…continued

Loans and advances…continued
The breakdown of the gross amount of individually impaired loans and advances by class are as follows:

Overdrafts
$’000

Term
Loans
$’000

Mortgages
$’000

Large
Corporate

Loans
$’000

Total
$’000

31 December 2017 9,655 70,933 61,151 200,490 342,229

31 December 2016 13,940 83,131 71,511 240,623 409,205
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Credit risk…continued

Debt securities, treasury bills and other eligible bills
The table below presents an analysis of debt securities and treasury bills by rating agency designation at 31 December
2017 and 2016, based on Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s ratings:

Financial
assets held
for trading

$’000

Investment
Securities

$’000

Pledged
Assets
$’000

Loans and
Receivables

-bonds
$’000

Treasury
Bills

$’000
Total
$’000

At 31 December
2017
A- to A+ - 126,059 - - - 126,059
Lower than A- - 251,516 - - - 251,516
Unrated 19,642 139,705 10,710 - 23,811 193,868

19,642 517,280 10,710 - 23,811 571,443

At 31 December
2016
AA- to AA+
A- to A+ - 100,981 - 10,033 23,006 134,020
Lower than A- 586 247,721 - - 10,822 259,129
Unrated 18,014 136,563 21,367 - - 175,944

18,600 485,265 21,367 10,033 33,828 569,093

The Group’s balances held with other banks, non-bank financial institutions are held with reputable financial
institutions, and as such, credit risk is deemed minimal.

Concentrations of risks of financial assets with credit exposure

(a) Geographical sectors
The Group operates primarily in Saint Lucia. Based on the country of domicile of its counterparties, exposure to credit
risk is concentrated in these locations, except for investments which have other exposures, primarily in the United
States of America.

(b) Industry sectors
The following table breaks down the Group’s credit exposure at gross amounts without taking into account any
collateral held or other credit support by the industry sectors of the Group’s counterparties.
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(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

49

3 Financial risk management…continued

Market risk
The  Group  takes  on  exposure  to  market  risks,  which  is  the  risk  that  the  fair  value  or  future  cash  flows  of  a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open positions
in interest rate and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and
changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, credit spreads, foreign exchange
rates and equity prices. The Group’s exposure to market risks arises from its non-trading and trading portfolios.
Senior management of the Group monitors and manages market risk through the Asset Liability Committee
which advises on financial risks and assigns risk limits for the Group.

Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Group’s retail and commercial
banking assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios also consist of equity risks arising from the Group’s
available-for-sale investments (Note 14).

Currency risk
The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on
its financial position and cash flows. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and
in total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily. The Group’s exposure to currency
risk is minimal since most of its assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are held in United States dollars. The
exchange rate of the Eastern Caribbean dollar (EC$) to the United States dollar (US$) has been formally pegged
at EC$2.70 = US$1.00 since 1974. The following table summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency
exchange rate risk at 31 December.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in
the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both fair value and cash flows risks. Interest margins may increase
as a result of such changes but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. The Board
of Directors sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Interest rate risk…continued
Cash flow interest rate risk arises from loans and advances to customers at variable rates. At 31 December 2017
if variable interest rates had been 0.5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the
year would have been $841 (2016 – $3,776)  higher/lower, mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income on
variable rate loans.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of customer
deposits being withdrawn, payment of cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other cash outflows.

The Group is exposed to daily cash calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, current accounts,
maturing deposits, loan draw-downs, and guarantees. The Group does not maintain cash resources to meet all of
these needs, as experience shows that a minimum level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with
a high level of certainty. The Board of Directors sets limits on the minimum proportion of maturing funds available
to meet such calls and on the minimum level of interbank and other borrowing facilities that should be in place to
cover withdrawals at unexpected levels of demand.

Liquidity risk management process
The matching and controlled mismatching of the contractual maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities
is fundamental to the management of the Group. It is unusual for banks to be completely matched as transacted
business is often of uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances
profitability, but also increases the risk of losses.

The contractual maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing
liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes
in interest rates and exchange rates.

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably less than
the amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third party to draw funds under
the agreement. The total outstanding contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, since many of these commitments will expire or terminate without being
funded.

Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly reviewed to maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography, provider,
product and term.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Liquidity risk…continued

Non-derivative cashflows
The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group under non-derivative financial liabilities and assets
held for managing liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the statement of financial position date.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Group manages the
liquidity risk based on expected discounted cash inflows.

Up to
1 month

$’000

1 to 3
months

$’000

3 to 12
months

$’000

1 to 5
years
$’000

Over 5
years
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial liabilities
At 31 December 2017

Deposits from banks 9,162 3,135 31,260 - - 43,557
Due to customers 1,362,074 95,766 304,437 26,329 22,328 1,810,934
Repurchase agreements - - 13,810 - - 13,810
Borrowings 1,946 1,827 8,246 49,610 43,397 105,026
Preference shares - - - - 4,150 4,150
Other liabilities 9,077 16,744 3,837 - - 29,658

Total financial liabilities 1,382,259 117,472 361,590 75,939 69,875 2,007,135

Up to
1 month

$’000

1 to 3
months

$’000

3 to 12
months

$’000

1 to 5
years
$’000

Over 5
years
$’000

Total
$’000

Financial liabilities
At 31 December 2016

Deposits from banks 3,571 19,969 63,340 - - 86,880
Due to customers 1,808,318 122,637 462,369 37,516 25,590 2,456,430
Repurchase agreements - - 13,988 - - 13,988
Borrowings 4,839 3,949 22,811 96,024 80,807 208,430
Preference shares - - - - 4,150 4,150
Other liabilities 54,876 22,630 15,434 172 - 93,112

Total financial liabilities 1,871,604 169,185 577,942 133,712 110,547 2,862,990
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Liquidity risk…continued
Assets held for managing liquidity risk
The Group holds a diversified portfolio of cash and investment securities to support payment obligations.

The Group’s assets held for managing liquidity risk comprise cash and balances with central banks, certificates
of deposit, government bonds that are readily acceptable in repurchase agreements, treasury and other eligible
bills, loans and advances to financial institutions, loans and advances to customers and other items in the course
of collection.

The Group would also be able to meet unexpected net cash outflows by selling investment securities and
accessing additional funding sources.

Off-statement of financial position items

(a) Loan commitments
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Group’s off-statement of financial position financial instruments that
commit it to extend credit to customers and other facilities (Note 44), are summarised in the table below.

(b) Financial guarantees and other financial facilities
Financial guarantees (Note 44) are also included below based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

<1 Year
$’000

Total
$’000

As at 31 December 2017

Loan commitments 69,838 69,838
Financial guarantees, letters of credit and other credit obligations 23,765 23,765

Total 93,603 93,603

At 31 December 2016

Loan commitments 84,356 84,356
Financial guarantees, letters of credit and other credit obligations 27,182 27,182

Total 111,538 111,538
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon between
knowledgeable willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by a quoted market value,
if one exists. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments.

The fair values of cash resources, other assets and liabilities, cheques and other items in transit and due to other
banks are assumed to approximate their carrying values due to their short term nature. The fair value of off-
statement of financial position commitments are also assumed to approximate the amounts disclosed in Note 44
due to their short term nature.

Due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is the
amount repayable on demand. Deposits payable on a fixed date at rates which reflect market conditions and are
assumed to have fair values which approximate carrying value.

Investment securities
Investment securities include interest bearing debt and equity securities held to maturity and available-for-sale.
Assets classified for sale are measured at fair value based on market prices or broker/dealer price quotations. Where
this information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit
maturity and yield characteristics.

Pledged assets
The estimated fair value of pledged assets are derived from market prices or broker/dealer quotations. Where this
information is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit
maturity and yield characteristics.

Loans and advances
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair values of loans and advances represent
the discounted amount of estimated future cashflows expected to be received. Expected cashflows are discounted
at current market rates to determine fair value.

The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not
presented on the Group’s statement of financial position at their fair value.

Carrying value Fair value
2017

$’000
2016

$’000
2017

$’000
2016

$’000
Financial assets
Loans and receivables
− Large Corporate loans 280,565 415,434 406,844 431,812
− Term loans 208,447 292,765 214,664 308,194
− Mortgages 355,748 650,399 366,179 581,041
− Overdrafts 29,291 116,015 29,291 114,764
− Bonds - 10,033 - 9,795
Held to maturity 120,049 131,459 113,548 119,603

Financial liabilities

Borrowings 79,181 139,710 73,748 147,660
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

 Management assessed that cash and short term deposits, treasury bills, trade receivables, trade payables,
repurchase agreements and other current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments. The Group’s interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using
Discounted Cash Flow method using the discount rate that reflects the average rates at the end of the period.

Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques
are observable or unobservable. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources;
unobservable inputs reflect the Group’s market assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following
fair value hierarchy:

- Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes
listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges such as Luxembourg, New York and Trinidad and
Tobago.

- Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

- Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable components.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Group considers relevant and
observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities…continued

Fair value hierarchy…continued

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

31 December 2017

Assets measured at fair value:
Investment properties - 37,455 - 32,790
Land and buildings - - 39,495 39,495
Financial assets held for trading
- debt securities - 19,642 - 19,642

Financial assets  available-for-sale
- debt securities - 368,379 28,852 397,231
- equity securities 3,042 9,124 - 12,166

Financial instruments –pledged assets - 10,710 - 10,710

Total  financial assets 3,042 445,310 68,347 512,034

31 December 2016

Assets measured at fair value:
Investment properties - 9,328 - 9,328
Land and buildings - - 118,656 118,656
Financial assets held for trading

- debt securities - 18,600 - 18,600
- equity securities

Financial assets  available-for-sale
- debt securities 2,636 341,700 9,470 353,806
- equity securities 5,803 7,091 - 12,894

Financial instruments –pledged assets - 21,637 - 21,637

Total financial assets 8,439 398,356 128,126 534,921
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities…continued

Fair value hierarchy…continued

Assets for which fair values are disclosed

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

31 December 2017

Loans and advances to customers - 1,016,978 1,016,978
Held to maturity investments 113,548 - 113,548

Total  financial assets 113,548 1,016,978 1,130,526

31 December 2016

Loans and advances to customers - 1,435,811 1,435,811
Bonds 9,795 - 9,795
Held to maturity investments 113,548 - 113,548

Total financial assets 129,398 1,435,811 2,261,052

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
Level 3

$’000
Total
$’000

31 December 2017

Borrowings 73,748 73,748

31 December 2016

Borrowings 147,760 147,760
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities…continued

Fair value hierarchy…continued

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the statement
of financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from
an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1. Instruments included
in Level 1 comprise primarily DAX, FTSE 100 and Dow Jones debt securities classified as trading securities or
available-for-sale.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter fixed
income securities) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable  market  data  where  it  is  available  and  rely  as  little  as  possible  on  entity  specific  estimates.  If  all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level
3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:

• Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
• Other  techniques,  such  as  discounted  cash  flow analysis,  are  used  to  determine  fair  value  for  the  remaining

financial instruments.

There were no transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy during the year.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities…continued

Fair value hierarchy…continued

Financial assets
 held for trading

Debt
securities

$’000

Debt
securities

$’000
Total
$’000

31 December 2017

At beginning of year - 9,470 9,470
Transfer to disposal group held for

sale - - -
Purchases 23,495 23,495
Settlement - (4,113) (4,113)

At end of year - 28,852 28,852

There were no gains or losses for the period included in the statement of income or comprehensive income for
assets held at 31 December.

Financial assets
 held for trading Available-for-Sale

Debt
securities

$’000

Debt
securities

$’000
Total
$’000

31 December 2016

At beginning of year 36 18,741 18,777
Transfer to disposal group held

for sale – (17,646) (17,646)
Purchases – 8,462 8,462
Settlement (36) (87) (123)

At end of year – 9,470 9,470
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Capital management
The  Group’s  objectives  when  managing  capital,  which  is  a  broader  concept  than  the  ‘equity’  on  the  face  of
statement of financial position, are:

• To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the banking markets where the entities within
the Group operate;

• To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

• To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Group’s management, employing
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the East Caribbean Central Bank (the “Authority”) for
supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Authority on a quarterly basis.

The Authority requires each bank or banking group to hold the minimum level of the regulatory capital to the
risk-weighted asset (the ‘Basel capital adequacy ratio’) at or above the internationally agreed minimum of 8%.

The Group’s regulatory capital as managed by its Treasury is divided into two tiers:

• Tier  1  capital:  share  capital  (net  of  any  book  values  of  the  treasury  shares),  minority  interests  arising  on
consolidation from interests in permanent equity, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of
retained earnings. The book value of goodwill is deducted in arriving at Tier 1 capital; and

• Tier 2 capital: qualifying subordinated loan capital, collective impairment allowances, unrealised gains arising
on the fair valuation of equity instruments held as available-for-sale and fixed asset revaluation reserves
(limited to 20% on Tier 1 capital).

Investments in associates are deducted from Tier 1 and Tier 2 capital to arrive at the regulatory capital.

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of five risk weights classified according to the
nature of and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and counterparty,
taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-statement of
financial position exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.
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3 Financial risk management…continued

Capital management…continued
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the ratios of the Group for the years
ended 31 December. During those two years, the banking subsidiaries of the Group complied with all of the
externally imposed capital requirements to which they are subject.

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Tier 1 capital
Share capital 170,081 170,081
Reserves 184,420 163,567
Accumulated deficit (230,918) (254,104)
Non-controlling interest - 51,858

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital 123,583 131,402

Tier 2 capital
Revaluation reserve 13,855 13,855
Redeemable preference shares 4,150 4,150
Unrealised gain/(loss) on available-for-sale investments 7,017 (793)
Subordinated debt 50,000 50,000
Collective impairment allowance 18,052 38,229

Total qualifying Tier 2 capital 93,074 105,441

Total regulatory capital 216,657 219,139

Risk-weighted assets:
On-statement of financial position 1,315,238 2,235,080
Off-statement of financial position 18,720 61,486

Total risk-weighted assets 1,333,958 2,296,566

Basel capital adequacy ratio 16.24% 9.54%

Fiduciary activities
The Group provides investment management and advisory services to third parties, which involve the Group
making allocation and purchase and sale decisions in relation to a wide range of financial instruments. Those
assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these consolidated financial statements. Some of
these arrangements involve the Group accepting targets for benchmark levels of returns for the assets under
the  Group’s  care.  At  the  statement  of  financial  position  date,  the  Group  had  financial  assets  under
administration amounting to $94,690 (2016 – $67,160).
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4 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

Going Concern
The Group’s management is satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future.
The Group’s management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon its ability
to continue as a going concern.

Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Group reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment at least annually. In determining whether an impairment
loss should be recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the Group makes judgements as
to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. To
the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-5%, the provision would be estimated
at $3,540 (2016 – $4,445)  $2,717 (2016  – $4,345) lower or higher.

Impairment of assets carried at fair value
The Group determines that available-for-sale and held for trading equity investments are impaired when there has
been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant
or prolonged requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates among other factors, the normal
volatility in share price. In addition, impairment may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in
the financial health of the investee, industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and
financing cash flows.

The Group individually assesses available-for-sale debt securities for objective evidence of impairment. If an
impaired instrument has been renegotiated, interest continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount of
the asset and is recorded as part of “interest income”. If the fair value of the instrument increases in a subsequent
year, the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statement of income.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less cost of disposal
is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length for similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental cost of disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on
a DCF model. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for DCF model as well as the future
cash inflows.
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4 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies...continued

Held-to-maturity investments
The Group follows the guidance of IAS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If the Group fails to
keep these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances – for example, selling an insignificant
amount close to maturity – it will be required to reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale. The investments
would therefore be measured at carrying value not amortised cost. If the entire held-to-maturity investments are
tainted, the carrying value would increase by $6,501 (2016 – $11,856) with a corresponding entry in the fair value
reserve in equity.

Fair value of financial instruments
For financial instruments, where recorded current market transactions or observable market data are not available
at  fair  value using valuation techniques,  fair  value is  determined using a  valuation model  that  has been tested
against prices or inputs to actual market transactions and using the group’s best estimates of the most appropriate
model assumptions.

Deferred taxes
In calculating the provision for deferred taxation, management uses judgment to determine the possibility that
future taxable profits will be available to facilitate utilization of temporary tax differences which may arise.

Revaluation of land and buildings and investment property
The Group measures its land and buildings and investment property at revalued amounts with changes in fair
value being recognized in other comprehensive income and in the statement of comprehensive income
respectively. The Group engages independent valuation specialists to determine fair value of its land and
buildings. The valuer uses judgment in the application of valuation techniques such as replacement cost,
capitalization of potential rentals and the market price of comparable properties, as applicable in each case.

Retirement benefits
The present value of the retirement benefit obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount
of pension obligations. The most sensitive assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions
include the discount rate and future salary increases. The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the
end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future
cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount
rate, the Group considers the interest rates of Government that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. A
sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial assumption as of the end of the reporting period is shown below:
2017:

Assumption Sensitivity Level Impact on defined benefit obligation
Increase Decrease

Discount rate 1% $8,738 $5,923
Future salary increases 1% $4,137 $3,376
Increase in average life expectancy 1 year $297 -
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4 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements in applying accounting policies …continued

2016:
Assumption Sensitivity Level Impact on defined benefit obligation

Increase Decrease
Discount rate 1% $8,841 $6,127
Future salary increases 1% $4,197 $3,459
Increase in average life expectancy 1 year $341 –

Corporate income taxes
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions. The deferred tax assets recognised at 31 December 2017 have been
based on future profitability assumptions over a five year horizon. In the event of changes to these profitability
assumptions, the tax assets recognised may be adjusted.

5 Segment analysis

In the financial years 2017 and 2016, segment reporting by the Group was prepared in accordance with IFRS 8,
‘Operating segments’.

Following the management approach of IFRS 8, operating segments are reported in accordance with the internal
reporting provided to the Company’s Board of Directors (the chief operating decision-maker), which is
responsible for allocating resources to the reportable segments and assessing their performance.

During the year, the Group had five operating segments, which meet the definition of reportable segment under
IFRS 8.
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5 Segment analysis...continued

-  Bank of St. Lucia Limited (BOSL) –operating in St. Lucia and provides domestic banking services.
- Bank of St. Lucia Limited- Investment Banking Services (BOSL GINV)-incorporating Capital market

activities and Merchant Banking.
- Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited (BOSVG) –operating in St. Vincent and the Grenadines and

provides domestic banking services. On June 30th 2017, the Group disposed of its majority holding in Bank
of St. Vincent and the Grenadines and retained a 20% as an investment in associate.

- Bank of St. Lucia International Limited- incorporating International banking including International
corporate and International personal banking, and a wide range of other services to International clients. On
March 10th 2017 the Group disposed of its 100% holding in Bank of St. Lucia International Limited.

- Other comprises of the holding company of the Group.

The Group’s segment operations are all financial with a majority of revenues being derived from interest. The
Company’s Board of Directors relies primarily on net interest income to assess the performance of the segment,
therefore the total interest income and expense for all reportable segments is presented on a net basis.

The revenue from external parties reported to the Company’s Board of Directors is measured in a manner
consistent with that in the consolidated statement of income.

Revenue from external customers is recorded as such and can be directly traced to each business segment.

The Group’s management reporting is based on a measure of operating profit comprising net interest income,
loan impairment charges, net fee and commission income, other income and non-interest expenses. This
measurement basis excludes the effects of non-recurring expenditure from the operating segments such as
restructuring costs, legal expenses and goodwill impairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated,
non-recurring event. As the Company’s Board of Directors reviews operating profit, the results of discontinued
operations are not included in the measure of operating profit.

The information provided about each segment is based on the internal reports about segment profit or loss, assets
and other information, which are regularly reviewed by the Company’s Board of Directors.

Segment assets and liabilities comprise operating assets and liabilities, being the majority of the consolidated
statement of financial position. Transactions between business segments are on an arms length basis and are
eliminated on consolidation and reflected in the consolidations entries.

There were no revenues derived from transactions with a single external customer that amount to 10% or more of
the Group’s revenue.
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5 Segment analysis…continued

BOSL BOSVG
(Discontinued)

BOSLIL
(Discontinued)

BOSL
GINV Other

Adjustments for
Discontinued

Operations
Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 2017
Net interest income 47,848 8,159 1,648 254 256 (9,807) 48,358
Net fee and commission income 26,209 1,210 659 5,164 - (1,869) 31,373
Other income 25,698 1,377 76 34 1,300 (1,453) 27,032
Impairment charge loans (16,014) (4,737) - - (417) 4,737 (16,431)
Depreciation and amortization (4,492) (711) (192) (16) - 903 (4,508)
Operating expenses (57,268) (6,538) (1,399) (743) (972) 7,937 (58,983)

Profit before taxation 21,981 (1,240) 792 4,693 167 448 26,841

Dividends on preference shares (291) - - - - - (291)
Income tax 2,020 - - - 786 - 2,806

Profit for the year 23,710 (1,240) 792 4,693 953 448 29,356

Total assets 2,130,395 1,032,529 810,003 18,886 297,908 (1,842,532) 2,447,189
Total liabilities 1,971,312 931,593 757,253 3,779 82,423 (1,688,846) 2,057,514

At 31 December 2016
Net interest income 41,193 32,245 9,770 – 298 (42,015) 41,491
Net fee and commission income 30,018 7,487 5,333 5,278 – (12,820) 35,296
Other income 16,089 5,812 2,438 529 (69) (8,250) 16,549
Impairment charge loans,

investments (128,782) (6,918) – – – 6,918 (128,782)
Depreciation and amortization (5,154) (2,852) (1,146) (17) – 3,998 (5,171)
Operating expenses (62,901) (28,139) (9,795) (1,210) (38) 37,934 (64,149)

Loss before taxation (109,537) 7,635 6,600 4,580 191 (14,235) (104,766)
Dividends on preference shares (291) – – – – (291)
Income tax (5,726) (2,699) – – – 2,699 (5,726)

Loss for the year (115,554) 4,936 6,600 4,480 191 (11,536) (110,783)
Total assets 2,014,421 971,281 773,522 7,557 264,497 - 4,031,278
Total liabilities 1,939,826 865,449 724,067 5,714 92,203 - 3,627,259
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5 Segment analysis…continued

Reconciliation of segment results of operations to consolidated results of operations:

Total
Management

Reporting
$’000

Consolidation
entries

$’000
Total
$’000

At 31 December 2017
Net interest income 48,358 - 48,358
Net fee and commission income 31,373 (24) 31,349
Other income 27,032 (1,539) 25,493
Impairment charge loans, investments and property (16,431) - (16,431)
Depreciation and amortisation (4,508) - (4,508)
Operating expenses (58,983) 967 (58,016)

Profit before tax 26,841 (596) 26,245

Dividends on preference shares (291) - (291)
Share profit of associates 3,074 - 3,074
Income tax expense 2,806 - 2,806

Net profit for the year from continuing operations 32,430 (596) 31,834

Assets 2,447,189 (329,199) 2,117,990
Liabilities 2,057,514 (88,097) 1,969,417

At 31 December 2016
Net interest income 41,491 - 41,491
Net fee and commission income 35,296 (34) 35,262
Other income 16,549 (2,825) 13,724
Impairment charge loans, investments and property (128,782) – (128,782)
Depreciation and amortisation (5,171) (624) (5,795)
Operating expenses (64,149) 1,128 (63,021)

Loss before tax (104,766) (2,355) (107,121)

Dividends on preference shares (291) - (291)
Share profit of associates 3,915 - 3,915
Income tax expense (5,726) - (5,726)

Loss for the year from continuing operations (106,868) (2,355) (109,223)

Assets 4,031,278 (382,167) 3,649,111
Liabilities 3,627,258 (123,729) 3,503,529



Annual Report 2017 | East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited      99 

   East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

76

6 Cash and balances with Central Bank
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Cash in hand 32,416 47,399
Balances with Central Bank other than  mandatory deposits 194,505 172,321

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 43) 226,921 219,720
Mandatory deposits with Central Bank 121,029 147,154

347,950 366,874

Pursuant to the Banking Act 2015, the Banking institutions are required to maintain in cash and deposits with the
Central Bank reserve balances in relation to the deposit liabilities of the institution.

Mandatory reserve deposits are not available for use in the Banking institutions’ day-to-day operations. The
balances with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing.

7 Treasury bills
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 43) 22,080 31,319
More than 90 days to maturity 1,731 2,509

23,811 33,828

Treasury bills are debt securities issued by the Governments of Saint Lucia. The weighted average effective
interest rate at 31 December 2017 was 4.5% (2016 – 4.1%).

8 Deposits with other banks
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Items in the course of collection 8,152 16,310
Placements with other banks 75,965 202,055
Interest bearing deposits 12,515 9,627

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 43) 96,632 227,992

The weighted average effective interest rate of interest-bearing deposits at 31 December 2017 is 1.25%
(2016 – 1.14%).
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9 Financial assets held for trading
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Debt securities – listed 19,642 18,600

19,642 18,600

Trading financial assets were acquired for selling in the near term and would otherwise have been classified as
held-to-maturity investments. The weighted average interest rate earned on held-for-trading investments debt
securities was 6.98% (2016 – 7.1%).

10 Deposits with non-bank financial institutions
2017

$’000
2016

$’000
Interest bearing deposits
Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 43) 5,412 8,730

Interest rate on deposits depends on the value of deposits held. There was no interest earned on deposits
with non-bank financial institutions in the years 2017 and 2016.

11 Loans and advances to customers
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Large corporate loans 342,746 487,749
Term loans 225,239 312,490
Mortgage loans 367,404 668,317
Overdrafts 34,277 118,729

Gross 969,666 1,587,285

Less allowance for impairment losses on loans and
advances to customers (Note 12) (95,615) (112,672)

Net 874,051 1,474,613

The weighted average effective interest rate on productive loans stated at amortised cost at 31 December 2017 was
7.6% (2016 – 7.61%) and productive overdrafts stated at amortised cost was 14.66% (2016 – 11.65%).
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12 Allowance for impairment losses on loans and advances to customers

Corporate
loans
$’000

Term
loans
$’000

Mortgage
loans
$’000

Overdrafts
$’000

Total
$’000

At 31 December 2017

At beginning of year 72,315 19,725 17,918 2,714 112,672
Written off during the year (17,931) (1,430) (141) (742) (20,244)
Individual impairment provisions
made during the year 20,263 1,202 (726) 3,568 24,307
Collective impairment provisions
made during the year (8,564) 1 (722) 674 (8,611)
Disposal group (3,902) (2,706) (4,673) (1,228) (12,509)

At end of year 62,181 16,792 11,656 4,986 95,615

At 31 December 2016

At beginning of year 67,072 31,720 16,907 17,090 132,789
Written off during the year (78,903) (32,224) (18,936) (25,754) (155,817)
Individual impairment provisions
made during the year 78,338 19,490 15,956 12,960 126,744
Collective impairment provisions
made during the year 5,808 739 3,991 (1,582) 8,956

At  end of year 72,315 19,725 17,918 2,714 112,672

13 Loans and receivables – bonds

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Non- current
Government bonds - 10,033

Government bonds are purchased from and issued directly by the Government of St. Vincent and the
Grenadines. The weighted average effective interest rate at 31 December 2017  in respect of Government
bonds at amortised cost was NIL% (2016 – 7.5%).
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14 Investment securities

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Securities held-to-maturity
Debt securities at amortised cost
- Listed 120,939 96,498
- Unlisted 3,616 41,575

124,555 138,073

Less provision for impairment (4,506) (6,614)

Total securities – held to maturity 120,049 131,459

Securities available-for-sale
Debt securities at fair value
- Listed 368,259 315,263
- Unlisted 29,915 38,944

398,174 354,207
Less provision for impairment on debt securities (943) (401)

397,231 353,806
Equity securities
- Listed 12,166 12,894

- Unlisted 998 4,896

Total securities – available-for-sale 410,395 371,596

Total investment securities 530,444 503,055

The weighted average effective interest rate on available-for-sale securities at fair value at 31 December 2017
was 3.54% (2016 – 3.15%).
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14 Investment securities…continued

Held to
maturity

$’000

Available-
for-sale

$’000

Held for
trading

$’000

Loans and
receivables

– bonds
$’000

Total
$’000

At 1 January 2017 131,459 371,596 18,600 10,033 531,688

Exchange differences on monetary assets - - - - -
Additions 48,573 183,048 1,786 - 233,407
Movement in accrued interest 312 646 4 - 962
Disposals (sale and redemption) (23,086) (144,161) (723) - (167,970)
Amortisation of discounts/premiums 520 - - - 520
Gains from changes in fair value - 2,718 (25) - 2,693
Increase in provision (194) (541) - (735)
Transfer on disposal of subsidiary (37,535) (2,911) - (10,033) (50,479)

At 31 December 2017 120,049 410,395 19,642 - 550,086

At 1 January 2016 98,807 650,128 15,030 10,033 773,998

Exchange differences on monetary assets - (4,454) - - (4,454)
Additions 136,064 247,347 6,490 - 389,901
Movement in accrued interest 290 (598) 177 - (131)
Disposals (sale and redemption) (17,576) (229,037) (3,058) - (249,671)
Amortisation of discounts/premiums 368 - - - 368
Gains from changes in fair value - 6,753 17 - 6,770
Transfer to disposal group held for sale (86,494) (298,543) (56) - (385,093)

At 31 December 2016 131,459 371,596 18,600 10,033 531,688

15 Financial instruments - pledged assets and repurchase agreements

The following assets are pledged against certain other funding instruments:

Financial instruments - pledged
assets

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Pledged against repurchase agreements 10,710 10,823
Pledged against automated clearing house - 10,544

10,710 21,367

The value of repurchase agreements on the statement of financial position which are secured by pledged assets
is $13,703 (2016 - $13,839). The variance between investment pledged against repurchase agreements and the
value of repurchase agreement represents accrued interest.
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16 Investment in associates

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Investment in associates 49,781 17,704

The investments in associates are as follows:
2017

$’000
2016

$’000
Associate
At beginning of year 17,704 14,292
Interest retained in BOSVG 25,500 -
Derecognition of BOSVG associate holding in ECAB (2,000) -
Dividends from associate (264) -
Transfer to available for sale investments - (655)
Share of other comprehensive income 5,767 152
Share of profit in associate 3,074 3,915

At end of year 49,781 17,704

The Group invested $6,800 and has a 28% shareholding in the East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited of
Antigua (ECAB). The company is an unlisted company incorporated in St. Kitts. This undertaking represented
the Group’s contribution to a joint initiative of indigenous banks of the East Caribbean Currency Union to
salvage and restructure the previous Bank of Antigua Limited.

East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited of Antigua financial reporting period ends on 30 September.
The Group’s interest in its associate East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited of Antigua, as at
31 December 2017 is as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Current assets 69,633 96,537
Non-current assets 795,773 723,687
Liabilities (715,092) (709,870)
Preference Shares (47,869) (47,869)
Equity 102,445 62,485
% ownership 20% 28%
Share of equity in associate 20,489 17,704
Previous share of profits from ECAB holding 3,207 -
Carrying amount of the investment 23,696 17,704
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16 Investment in associates … continued

Summarised statement of profit and loss of East Caribbean Amalgamated Bank Limited:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Revenue 45,521 41,368
Administrative cost (24,324) (23,103)
Depreciation (1,826) (2,017)
Profit for the year 19,371 16,248
Tax expense (4,176) (2,733)
Other comprehensive income 28,725 537
Total comprehensive income 43,920 14,052
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16 Investment in associates…continued

During the year, the bank disposed of its majority holding in Bank if St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited and
retained a 20% holding. The company is a listed company incorporated in St. Vincent.

The Group’s interest in its associate Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited, as at 31 December 2017 is
as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Current assets 118,625 -
Non-current assets 855,218 -
Liabilities (869,983) -
Equity 103,860 -
% ownership 20% -
Share of Equity in associate 20,772 -
Adjustment for fair value of associate interest at acquisition date 5,313 -
Carrying amount of the investment 26,085 -

Summarised statement of profit and loss of Bank of St. Vincent & the Grenadines Limited at December
2017:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Revenue 22,013 -
Administrative cost (16,185) -
Depreciation (1,346) -
Profit for the year 4,482 -
Tax expense (1,667) -
Other comprehensive income 109 -
Total comprehensive income 2,924 -

The associate had no contingent liabilities or capital commitments as at 31 December 2017 or 2016.
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17 Property and equipment

Land and
buildings

$’000

Leasehold
improvements

$’000

Motor
vehicles

$’000

Office
furniture

and
equipment

$’000

Computer
equipment

$’000

Work-in-
progress

buildings
$’000

Total
$’000

Year ended
  31 December 2016
Opening net book amount 118,565 2,575 809 12,230 3,260 1,542 138,981
Additions 1,401 - 220 1,319 945 (499) 3,386
Disposals at cost - (1,115) (701) (653) (12) - (2,481)
Accumulated depreciation on
    disposal - 1,106 629 605 9 - 2,349
Depreciation charge (2,191) (728) (367) (2,995) (1,493) - (7,774)
Transfer to disposal group - (62) (77) (439) (497) - (1,075)

Closing net book amount 117,775 1,776 513 10,067 2,212 1,043 133,386

At 31 December 2016
Cost or valuation 137,711 9,316 2,408 43,321 30,330 1,043 224,129
Accumulated depreciation (19,936) (7,540) (1,895) (33,254) (28,118) - (90,743)

Net book amount 117,775 1,776 513 10,067 2,212 1,043 133,386

Year ended
  31 December 2017
Opening net book amount 117,775 1,776 513 10,067 2,212 1,043 133,386
Additions 428 72 - 609 832 - 1,941
Disposals at cost - - (246) (8) (4) - (258)
Accumulated depreciation on
     disposal - - 241 8 2 - 251
Transfer to investment

properties (Note 18) (30,029) - - - - - (30,029)
Depreciation charge (1,126) (602) (117) (1,476) (527) - (3,848)
Disposal of subsidiary (47,553) - (262) (5,139) (1,561) (1,043) (55,558)

Closing net book amount 39,495 1,246 129 4,061 954 - 45,885

At 31 December 2017
Cost or valuation 56,956 9,388 1,223 27,593 20,907 - 116,067
Accumulated depreciation (17,461) (8,142) (1,094) (23,532) (19,953) - (70,182)

Net book amount 39,495 1,246 129 4,061 954 - 45,885
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17 Property and equipment…continued

The major component of land and buildings were revalued in 2017 by an independent valuer based on open
market value and a management internal specialist performed a review of the remaining buildings. The valuation
indicates that the market value does not differ materially from the carrying amount of the respective assets in the
books of the Group.

The historical cost of land and buildings is:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Cost 38,452 68,143
Accumulated depreciation based on historical cost (20,345) (19,219)

Depreciated historical cost 18,107 48,924

18 Investment properties

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Land and buildings
At beginning of year 9,328 10,643
Additions 65 -
Transfer from PPE (Note 17) 30,029 -
Disposal of subsidiary (2,780) -
Fair value adjustment 813 (1,315)

At end of year 37,455 9,328

The investment properties are valued annually based on open market value by an independent, professionally
qualified valuer. Comparative analysis was used to determine the market value of the investment properties.

The Group has no restrictions on the realisability of its investment properties and no contractual obligation to
either purchase, construct or develop investment properties or for repairs maintenance and enhancements.

The following amounts have been recognised in the statement of income:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Rental income 2,260 1,787
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that

generated  rental income (736) (568)
Direct operating expenses that did not generate rental income - (100)

1,524 1,119
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19 Intangible assets
Computer

software
Other

intangibles Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 31 December 2016

Opening net book amount 5,868 2,037 7,905
Additions 398 - 398
Amortisation charge for the year (1,395) (623) (2,018)
Transfer to disposal group held for sale (1,392) - (1,392)

Closing net book amount 3,479 1,414 4,893

At 31 December 2016

Cost 13,481 7,793 21,274
Accumulated amortisation (10,002) (6,379) (16,381)

Net book amount 3,479 1,414 4,893

Year ended 31 December 2017

Opening net book amount 3,479 1,414 4,893
Additions 800 - 800
Accumulate amortisation on disposal 9 - 9
Amortisation on disposal of subsidiary (3,948) (3,948)
Amortisation charge for the year - (661) (661)

Closing net book amount 340 753 1,093

At 31 December 2017

Cost 14,281 7,793 22,074
Accumulated amortisation (13,941) (7,040) (20,981)

Net book amount 340 753 1,093
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20 Other assets
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Receivable accounts 13,149 26,680
Receivable accounts- credit card 38,587 33,821
Prepaid expenses 2,229 2,781
Stationery and supplies 527 847
Accounts receivable 2,070 851
Accrued income 122 152

56,684 65,132

Less provision for impairment on other assets (Note 21) (1,348) (1,874)

55,336 63,258

21 Provision for impairment on other assets

The movement on the provision for impairment on other assets was as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

At beginning of year 1,874 3,989
Provisions made during the year 494 827
Receipts (154) (2,633)
Write offs during the year (866) (309)

At end of year 1,348 1,874
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22 Retirement benefit asset

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are determined as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Fair value of plan assets 62,217 56,424
Present value of funded obligation (48,602) (45,797)

Asset in the statement of financial position 13,615 10,627

Movement in the asset recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position:

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Beginning of year 45,797 44,312
Current service cost 1,382 915
Interest cost 3,549 3,406
Employee contribution 862 960
Actuarial loss/gains (1,557) (2,242)
Benefits paid (1,431) (1,554)

End of year 48,602 45,797

The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Beginning of year 56,424 52,209
Actual return on plan assets 3,504 2,584
Employer contributions 3,053 2,411
Employee contributions 862 960
Benefits paid (1,431) (1,554)
Administrative expenses (195) (186)

End of year 62,217 56,424
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22 Retirement benefit asset...continued

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Net asset at beginning of year 10,627 7,897
Net periodic cost (809) (530)
Contributions paid 3,053 2,411
Effect on statement of comprehensive income 744 849

Net asset at end of year 13,615 10,627

Benefit Cost

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Current service cost 1,382 915
Net interest on net defined benefit asset 3,549 3,406
Expected return on plan assets (4,317) (3,977)
Administration expenses 195 186

Net periodic cost at end of year 809 530

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Gain from experience (1,557) (2,242)
Expected return on plan assets 4,317 3,977
Actual return on plan assets (3,504) (2,584)

(744) (849)
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

2017
%

2016
%

Discount rate 7.50 7.50
Future promotional salary increases 3.00-4.52 3.00-4.52
Future inflationary salary increases 2.00 2.00

Assumptions are set to approximate the expected average rates over the long term and may not be appropriate in
any specific year.
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22 Retirement benefit asset...continued

Plan assets allocation is as follows:
2017

%
2016

%

Debt securities 87 90
Equity securities 10 6
Other 3 4

100 100

The pension plan assets do not include assets or ordinary shares of the Group.

Mortality rate
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice, published statistics and experience in
each territory.

The average life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 60 after the statement of financial position date
is as follows:

2017 2016

Male 24.69 24.60
Female 26.86 26.81

The assumption adopted for the expected return on assets considers the actual assets the Plan holds and the outlook
for returns on various asset classes. This assumption is usually derived by looking at actual asset mix and making
assumptions about returns relative to the “baseline” of the plan’s discount rate, which are taken to be the returns
on government bonds.
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22 Retirement benefit asset...continued

The major categories of the fair value of the total plan assets are as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Investments quoted in active  markets:
Quoted equity investments:
- Energy 27 27
- Consumer staples 2,155 1,959
- Other 3,882 1,403

       Quoted Debt securities
- Sovereign bonds 20,700 17,925
- Energy 1,617 2,283
- Industrial 679 276
- Consumer staples - -
- Other 15,532 12,417

Cash and cash equivalents 1,816 2,419

Unquoted investments
Unquoted Debt securities
- Sovereign bonds 15,759 13,053
- Other - 4,662

Unquoted equity securities
- Other 50 -

Total 62,217 56,424

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Within the next 12 months 784 619
Between 2 and 5 years 3,959 1 3,266
Between 5 and 10 years 9,005 9,072

Total expected payments 13,748 12,957

 The average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of the reporting period is years 17 (2016 –
16 years).
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23 Deposits from banks
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Deposits from banks 43,298 85,901

The weighted average effective interest rate on deposits from banks was 1.59% (2016 – 2.44%).

24 Due to customers
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Term deposits 415,861 623,566
Savings deposits 630,748 963,976
Call deposits 282,324 270,208
Demand deposits 470,655 584,136

1,799,588 2,441,886

The weighted average effective interest rate of customers’ deposits at 31 December 2017 was 1.43%
(2016 – 2.03%).
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25 Borrowings

Due

Interest
rate

%
2017

$’000

Interest
rate

%
2016

$’000
Other borrowed funds
Caribbean Development Bank 2017-2020 3.8 27,949 3.0% 63,489
National Insurance Corporation (Saint Lucia) 2017-2026 7.25 51,232 7.5% 53,145
National Insurance Corporation (St. Vincent) 2017-2025 - - 6.12% 19,492
Prodev bond 2016-2017 - - 7.5% 3,584

79,181 139,710

Security for loans issued by the Group includes a first hypothecary obligation over the building and property
known as the Financial Center, which is located at #1 Bridge Street.

The final maturity date of the Prodev bond issue was December 2017.

In August 2016, the holding company issued a ten (10) year, EC$50 million unsecured bond via private placement
with the purpose of capitalizing its wholly -owned subsidiary of Bank of Saint Lucia Limited.   The bond which
qualifies  as  tier  II  capital,  pays  interest  semi-annually  at  the  rate  of  7.25%.   Principal  repayments  are  to  be
amortized by way of 10 semi-annual payments over the last 5-year term of the instrument. The National Insurance
Corporation was the sole purchaser of the bond.

The Group had undrawn facilities at the end of the financial reporting period of $24,913 (2016 – $27,007) with the
Caribbean Development Bank.
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26 Other liabilities
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Trade and other payables 26,151 84,370
Managers’ cheques outstanding 2,899 8,605
Agency loans 156 137

29,206 93,112

The agency loans are funds issued to the Group by the Government of Saint Lucia for disbursement to the related
projects. The Group earns an agency fee on the amounts disbursed. The funds belong to the Government of Saint
Lucia and the Group bears no risk in relation to these funds.

27 Deferred tax

The movements on the deferred tax asset are as follows:
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Net deferred tax position at beginning of year 298 (4,032)
Deferred tax charge Income Statement (Note 41):
Arising from retirement benefit plan 674 563
Arising from other timing differences (277) (364)
Arising from tax losses utilised (1,738) 3,876
Arising from disposal of subsidiary 298 -
Deferred tax charge for the year (1,043) 4,075

Deferred tax charge to other comprehensive income
Deferred tax arising from retirement benefit plan 223 255
Net deferred tax position at end of year (820) 298
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27 Deferred tax ...continued

The deferred tax account is detailed as follows:
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Accelerated capital allowances 1,943 2,220
Fair value of pension assets 4,084 3,187
Unutilised tax losses (6,847) (5,109)

Net deferred tax (asset)/liability (820) 298

Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows:
Deferred tax asset 820          -
Deferred tax liability - (298)
Deferred tax asset, net 820 (298)

Deferred income taxes and liabilities are offset when there are legally enforceable rights to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.

28 Share capital
No. of

Shares
2017

$’000
No. of

Shares
2016

$’000
Ordinary shares
Authorised:

50,000,000 ordinary shares of no par value
Issued and fully paid
At beginning and end of year 24,465,589 170,081 24,465,589 170,081

29 Contributed capital

Total capital contributions received at 31 December, were as follows:
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Productive Sector Equity Fund Incorporated 1,118 1,118
Student Loan Guarantee Fund 3,000 -

4,118 1,118

The figures above represent the contributions to the Group by Third Parties in support of the two funds listed.
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30 Non-controlling interests

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

At beginning of year 51,858 50,910
Share of profit of subsidiaries - 2,419
Share of unrealised loss on investments - (50)
Dividends paid - (1,421)
Disposal group (51,858) -

At end of year - 51,858

31 Reserves
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

(a)  General reserve 62,957 62,957
(b)  Statutory reserve 93,652 87,971
(c)  Student loan guarantee fund reserve 7,627 (22)
(d)  Special reserve 2,034 2,034
(e)  Retirement benefit reserve 13,615 10,627
(f)  Contingency reserve 4,535 -

Total reserves at 31 December 184,420 163,567

Movements in reserves were as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

(a) General
At beginning of year 62,957 60,647
Transferred from retained earnings - 2,310

At end of year 62,957 62,957

It is the policy of the Group to maintain a general reserve for reinvestment in operations. Transfers to the
reserve are based on a maximum of 35% of the consolidated Group’s profit for the year after transfers to statutory
reserve.
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31 Reserves...continued

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

(b) Statutory
At beginning of year 87,971 87,971
Transferred from retained earnings 5,681 -

At end of year 93,652 87,971

Pursuant to Section 45 (1) of the Banking Act 2015, the Bank institutions shall, out of its net profits of each year
transfer to that reserve a sum equal to not less than twenty percent of such profits whenever the amount of the
fund is less than one hundred percent of the paid-up capital of the Banking institutions.

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

(c) Student loan guarantee fund
At beginning of year (22) 161
Transferred from retained earnings 1,120 193
Contributions 6,529 -
Capital Drawing - (376)

7,627 (22)

This is a non-distributable reserve. Transfers are made to the reserve at an amount equal to the net profit of the
subsidiary Student Loan Guarantee Fund Limited.

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

(d) Special
At beginning of year 2,034 2,034

At end of year 2,034 2,034

The  finance  contract  between  the  European  Investment  Bank  (“EIB”)  and  the  former  St.  Lucia  Development
Bank, now assumed by Bank of Saint Lucia Limited, requires the institution to establish and maintain a special
reserve. Annually, an amount as specified under Section 6.05 of the Contract is credited to the reserve.
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31 Reserves…continued

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

(e) Retirement benefit
At beginning of year 10,627 7,897
Transferred from retained earnings 2,988 2,730

At end of year 13,615 10,627

The retirement  benefit  reserve is  a  non-distributable reserve.  It  is  the Group’s  policy to match the amount  of  fair
value of retirement benefit plan assets with the retirement benefit reserve.

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

(f) Contingency reserve
At beginning of year - -
Transferred from retained earnings 4,535 -

At end of year 4,535 -

The contingency reserve fund is created as an appropriation from retained earnings to set aside a portion of profits
against loan loss provisions. This reserve will be funded annually until the total loan loss provisions and the
contingency reserve equates to non-performing loans.
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32 Related party transactions and balances

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant
influence over the other party by making financial and operational decisions.

Interest income and interest expense with related parties were as follows:

2017 2016
Income Expense Income Expense

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Government of Saint Lucia 1 729 2 729
Government of St. Vincent and the
Grenadines - - 8,564 1,245
Statutory bodies – Saint Lucia 966 6,156 1,306 7,619
Statutory bodies – St. Vincent and the
Grenadines - - 343 2,005
Directors and key management 661 99 691 125
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32 Related party transactions and balances …continued

Related party balances with the Group were as follows:

2017 2016
Loans
$’000

Deposits
$’000

Loans
$’000

Deposits
$’000

Government of Saint Lucia 25,043 183,742 5 115,661
Government of St. Vincent and the
Grenadines - - 84,551 38,464
Statutory bodies – Saint Lucia 17,710 469,742 17,242 406,010
Statutory bodies – St. Vincent and the
Grenadines - - 3,630 86,051
Directors and key management 14,362 5,551 12,758 5,701

No provisions have been recognised in respect of loans given to related parties.

The loans issued to directors and other key management personnel during the year are repayable monthly over
an average of 10 years and have a weighted average effective interest rate of 5.1% ( 2016  – 6.1%). The secured
loans advanced to the directors during the year are collateralised by mortgages over residential properties.

Transactions with related parties were carried out on commercial terms and conditions.

Key management compensation
Key management includes the Group’s complete management team. The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is shown below:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Salaries and other short-term benefits 6,143 8,405
Pension costs 495 553

6,638 8,958

Directors remuneration 435 571
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33 Net interest income

2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000

Interest income
Loans and advances 60,984 60,596
Treasury bills and investment securities 19,329 16,370
Cash and short-term funds 190 15

80,503 76,981

Interest expense
Time deposits 12,774 16,506
Borrowings 4,933 3,159
Savings deposits 13,231 14,214
Demand deposits 387 356
Correspondent banks 820 1,255

32,145 35,490

Net interest income 48,358 41,491

34 Net fee and commission income

2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000
Fee and commission income
Credit related fees and commissions 31,016 30,718
Asset management and related fees 333 239

31,349 30,957

35 Net foreign exchange trading income

2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000

Foreign exchange
Net realised gains 10,108 9,402
Net unrealised gains 1,361 595

11,469 9,997
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36 Other operating income

2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000

Rental income 2,260 1,787
Bad debt recovery income 7,972 4,305
Other 792 1,137

11,024 7,229

37 Other gains, net

2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000

Gains on disposal of available-for-sale investment securities 2,222                423
(Losses)/gains on disposal of held to maturity investment securities (70) 12
Gains on held for trading investment securities 35 17
Unrealised losses on held for trading investments (25) -
Fair value loss on investment property 813 (1,530)
Reclassification of fait value gains on disposal of subsidiaries 25 -

3,000 (1,078)
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38 Operating expenses

2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000

Employee benefit expense (Note 39) 25,609 29,217
Depreciation and amortisation 4,508 5,795
Utilities and telecommunications 5,911 3,426
Repairs and maintenance 6,475 5,875
Advertising and promotion 469 805
Bank and other licences 217 133
Security 1,509 1835
Printing and stationery 760 730
Legal and professional fees 707 930
Insurance 366 674
Credit card & IDC visa charges 7,183 6,060
Borrowing fees 62 420
Corporate responsibility 148 125
Broker fees - 55
Bank charges 951 662
Travel and entertainment 211 80
Other expenses 7,438 10,113

62,524 66,935

39 Employee benefit expense

2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000

Wages and salaries 20,360 23,834
Other staff cost 4,440 5,470
Pensions 809 (87)

25,609 29,217
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40 Disposal group classified as Held for Sale

During December 2017, the Group publicly announced the decision of the board of directors to dispose of the
offshore banking subsidiary in order to divest from the inherent risks associated with this line of business. On
March 10th 2018, the Group officially sold its holding in Bank of St. Lucia International to Proven Investments
Limited.

The classes of assets and liabilities of the subsidiary classified as held for sale were as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank - 352,713
Investment Securities - 369,603
Loans and advances to customers - 14,216
Due from banks - -
Other current assets - 1,645
Property & Equipment - 2,467
Total - 740,644

Liabilities
Customer Deposits - 717,376
Other liabilities - 6,691

Total - 724,067

2016
$’000

Net assets in the statement of consolidated financial position - 16,577
Adjustments for intercompany balance - 17,443
Loss on disposals - 15,453

- 49,473
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40 Disposal group classified as Held for Sale …. continued

The provision for loss on disposal of Bank of St. Lucia International is as follows:

2017
$000

2016
$’000

Cash consideration 35,383 34,020
Less: Net assets carried at lower of cost and fair value less costs to sell (52,751) (49,473)

(17,368)
Provision for loss on disposal 15,453 (15,453)
Loss on disposal of controlling interest (1,915) -

On June 30th 2017, the Company disposed of 31% of its holding in Bank of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines
Limited., retaining an effective interest of 20%.

The gain arising on the disposal is as follows:

2017
$000

2016
$’000

Cash consideration 32,364 -
Retained share holding 25,500 -
Less: Net assets carried at lower of cost and fair value less costs to sell (51,477) -

Gain on disposal of controlling interest 6,387 -



Annual Report 2017 | East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited      129 

   East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2017

(in thousands of Eastern Caribbean dollars)

106

40 Disposal group classified as Held for Sale ...continued

The analysis of the results of discontinuing operations is as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
Restated

$’000

Revenue 16,324 63,084
Impairment losses-loans (4,737) (6,918)
Administrative cost (8,881) (36,588)
Depreciation (2,023) (3,997)
Profit for the year 683 15,581
Income tax expense - (2,699)
Total comprehensive income 683 12,882

 Cash flows from discontinued operations:
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

Operating cash flows - (196,611)
Investing cash flows - (28)
Financing Cash flows - -

Total cash flows - 196,639
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41 Income tax expense/ (recovery)

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Current tax 1,076 -
(Over)/under provision of prior year tax (2,839) 1,651
Deferred tax charge (Note 27) (1,043) 4,075

(2,806) 5,726
Deferred tax income in other comprehensive income:
Deferred tax arising from defined benefit pension plan 223 255

Tax  on  the  Group’s  profit  before  income  tax  differs  from  the  theoretical  amount  that  would  arise  using  the
statutory tax rate of 30% as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Profit/(loss) for the year before income tax and preference dividends 29,319 (103,206)

Tax calculated at the applicable tax rate of 30% 8,796 (30,962)
Tax effect of income not subject to tax (5,734) (2,231)
Deferred tax asset recognised/ unrecognised on tax losses (1,738) 35,245
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes (321) 2,023
Tax effect of utilised losses (970) -
Under provision of income tax (2,839) 1,651

(2,806) 5,726
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41 Income tax expense/(recovery) …continued

The Group has unutilised tax losses of $22,823 (2016 – $17,033) for which a deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the certainty of its recoverability. Unutilized tax losses may be carried forward and deducted
against 50% of future taxable income within six years following the year in which the losses were incurred. The
losses are based on income tax returns, which have not yet been assessed by the Inland Revenue Department.
The Group also has unutilised tax losses of $225,464 (2016 – $242,710) for which no deferred tax asset has been
recognized.

Tax losses expire as follows:
2017

$’000
2016

$’000

2017 - 11,456
2018 98,265 98,265
2019 24,957 24,957
2020 6,367 6,367
2021 13,619 13,619
2022 105,079 105,079

248,287 259,743

There was no income tax effect relating to components of other comprehensive income.

42 Earnings per share

Basic and Diluted
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit/(loss) from continuing operations attributable to
ordinary shareholders of $31,834 (2016 – ($105,944)) and 24,465 (2016 – 24,465) shares, being the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue in each year. For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share,
the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders is adjusted by adding preference dividends of
$291 (2016 – $291) and taking into consideration the dilutive effect of preference dividends on the weighted
average number of ordinary shares.
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43 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Cash and balances with Central Bank (Note 6) 226,921 219,720
Deposits with other banks (Note 8) 96,632 227,992
Deposits with non-bank financial institutions (Note 10) 5,412 8,730
Treasury Bills (Note 7) 22,080 31,319
Cash of disposal group - 352,713

351,045 840,474

44 Contingent liabilities and commitments

Commitments
The following table indicates the contractual amounts of the Group financial instruments that commit it to
 extend credit to customers.

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Loan commitments 69,838 84,356
Guarantees, letters of credit and other credit obligations 23,765 27,182

93,603 111,538

Contingent liabilities

Operating leases
The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Not later than 1 year 1,977 1,535
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 4,912 1,028

6,889 2,563
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45 Principal subsidiary undertakings
Holding

2017
%

2016
%

Bank of Saint Lucia Limited 100 100
Bank of Saint Lucia International Limited - 100
Bank of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Limited - 51
Student Loan Guarantee Fund Limited ** - -
Productive Sector Equity Fund Incorporated ** - -

 ** Allotment of shares had not been completed at the reporting date.

As part of its strategic objectives, the local companies of the ECFH Group namely; Bank of Saint Lucia Limited
and ECFH Global Investment Solutions were amalgamated with ECFH holding company in October 2016, and
this amalgamated entity continued as Bank of Saint Lucia Limited.

Another company named East Caribbean Financial Holding Company Limited was then incorporated at the same
time to hold the shares of Bank of Saint Lucia Limited, and Bank of Saint Vincent and the Grenadines limited.
On June 30th 2017, the group disposed of its majority holding in Bank of St. Vincent and the Grenadines Limited
as part of its strategic objective to focus on its local share of Bank of St. Lucia Limited.

46 Cumulative preference shares

No. of
shares

2017
$’000

No. of
Shares

2016
$’000

7% Cumulative preference shares
Authorised:

11,550,000 preference shares
At beginning and end of year 830,000 4,150 830,000 4,150

The preference shares are non-voting and are to be converted to ordinary shares. The Group has imposed certain
restrictions with respect to the number of preference shares that can be converted to ordinary shares in any one
year.

The Board of Directors of the Company and the National Insurance Corporation have formally agreed that future
conversions of preference shares should be done at $5 per share.

Dividends declared and unpaid on the preference shares during the year amounted to $291 (2016 – $291).
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47  Comparatives

As  described  in  Note  40,  the  subsidiary  investment  in  Bank  of  St.  Vincent  and  the  Grenadines  Limited  was
disposed of during 2017. Therefore, the related 2016 profits from operations were reclassified to profit for the
year from discontinued operations within the consolidated statement of income. In addition, certain balances were
reclassified in the prior year to meet the current year presentation period. These changes had no impact on the
total assets or total equity.
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